
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date: Friday 16 March 2018

Time: 10.00 am Public meeting Yes

Venue: Room 116, West Midlands Combined Authority, 16 Summer Lane, Birmingham, B19 
3SD

Membership
David Lane (Chair)
Councillor Craig Collingswood (Vice-Chair) City of Wolverhampton Council
Councillor Sucha Bains Coventry City Council
Councillor Margaret Bassett Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Kerrie Carmichael Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Keith Chambers Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Steve Clark Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Sean Farnell Coventry & Warwickshire LEP
Councillor John Fisher Redditch Borough Council
Councillor Mariam Khan Birmingham City Council
Councillor Simon Peaple Staffordshire Non-Constituent Authorities
Councillor Alexander Phillips Shropshire Council
Councillor June Tandy Nuneaton & Bedworth Borough Council

Quorum for this meeting shall be nine members.

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact:

Contact Lyndsey Roberts, Governance Services Officer
Telephone 0121 214 7501
Email lyndsey.roberts@wmca.org.uk

Public Document Pack



Agenda
Page 2 of 3

AGENDA
No. Item Presenting Pages Time

Meeting Business Items

1.  Apologies for Absence Chair None

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are reminded of the need to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interests they have in an 
item being discussed during the course of the 
meeting. In addition, the receipt of any gift or 
hospitality should be declared where the value of it 
was thought to have exceeded £25 (gifts) or £40 
(hospitality).

Chair None

3.  Chair's Remarks Chair None 10:00

4.  Minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2018 Chair 1 - 8 10:05

5.  Matters Arising
(a) Health & Safety Reporting
(b) Whistleblowing
(c) Wolverhampton Interchange Lessons 

Learned - Update
(d) Devolution 1 & 2 Update

Tim Martin
Tim Martin
Tim Martin

Tim Martin

Verbal 
Report

10:10

6.  Forward Plan Chair 9 - 12 10:20

Business Items for Noting/Approval

7.  Governance Structures Tim Martin 13 - 20 10:25

8.  Capability and Vacancy Risks Rita Rais 21 - 28 10:35

9.  WMCA Progress Report March 2018 Grant Patterson 29 - 48 10:50

10.  Informing the Audit Risk Assessment Grant Patterson 49 - 74 11:05

11.  WMCA Annual Governance Statement
(a) Outturn Report for Internal Audit 2017/18
(b) Internal Audit Annual Report 2017/18
(c) WMCA Assurance Overview March 2018 

Tim Martin
Tim Martin

Peter Farrow
Joti Sharma

75 - 160 11:20

12.  Internal Audit Plan 2018/19 Peter Farrow 161 - 174 11:45

Date of Next Meeting

13.  Thursday 21 June 2018 at 10:00am Chair None 12:00



Agenda
Page 3 of 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 7

Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Friday 19 January 2018 at 10.00 am

Minutes

Present
David Lane (Chair)
Councillor Craig Collingswood (Vice-
Chair)

City of Wolverhampton Council

Councillor Margaret Bassett Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Kerrie Carmichael Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Sean Farnell Coventry & Warwickshire LEP
Councillor Mariam Khan Birmingham City Council
Councillor Simon Peaple Staffordshire Non-Constituent Authorities
Councillor Alexander Phillips Shropshire Council
Councillor June Tandy Nuneaton & Bedworth Borough Council

In Attendance
Nicola Coombe Grant Thornton
Louise Cowen West Midlands Combined Authority
Linda Downes Nuneaton & Bedworth Borough Council
Peter Farrow City of Wolverhampton Council
Sandra Kalyan City of Wolverhampton Council
Tim Martin West Midlands Combined Authority
Grant Patterson Grant Thornton
Sean Pearce West Midlands Combined Authority
Joti Sharma West Midlands Combined Authority
Councillor Jackie Taylor Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Loraine Quibell The West Midlands Combined Authority

Item
No.

Title

38.  Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Sucha Bains (Coventry 
City Council), Keith Chambers (Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council), Steve 
Clark (Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council) and John Fisher (Redditch 
Borough Council).

39.  Declarations of Interest
No declarations of interest were made in relation to matters under 
consideration at the meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Page 2 of 7

40.  Chair's Remarks
The Chair reported that on 24 January 2018, the WMCA Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee would be holding a Question Time with the Mayor of the West 
Midlands on the proposed WMCA draft budget and Mayoral council tax 
precept.  As the event would be streamed live through the WMCA Facebook 
page, the Governance Services Officer agreed to circulate a link to members 
of the committee.

The Chair indicated that he had intended on attending Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee on 30 January 2018, in which it would further consider its findings 
and recommendations to put forward to the WMCA Board in February.  

41.  Sean Pearce, Director of Finance
The committee received a briefing from Sean Pearce, recently appointed 
Director of Finance on his priorities for the WMCA and Audit, Risk & 
Assurance Committee.

The Director of Finance provided an update on the objectives of the WMCA 
Leadership Team and noted that Ben Khan, UK Head of Programme & 
Project Services for Arcadis had been appointed in November to undertake a 
review of programme assurance, governance and the project management 
office (PMO). The primary aim of this was to assess the organisational 
structure of the PMO and projects team. The review would take into 
consideration the observations from the recent internal audit on the 
investment programme assurance and governance arrangements. 

In terms of attracting highly skilled people into the region, Julie Nugent, 
Director of Productivity and Skills was currently developing a regional 
strategy around skills, advanced manufacturing and the digital agenda.  The 
WMCA had also appointed Henry Kipping, Director of Public Sector Reform.

42.  Minutes of the meeting held on 17 November 2017
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 November 2017 were agreed and 
signed by the Chair as a correct record.

43.  Matters Arising
(a) Items of Business

The Chair asked officers to ensure that in future the action points from 
previous meetings were responded to in the agenda or under matters 
arising.  This was supported by Councillor Craig Collingswood.

(b) Transport for the West Midlands Network Emergency Planning 
(minute no. 36 refers)
The Head of Governance agreed to define the boundaries of the 
Combined Authority’s responsibilities for members of the committee to 
overcome the risk of confusion between Combined Authority and local 
authority responsibilities.

(c) Health and Safety Reporting and Whistleblowing
The Head of Governance reported that there were no health and 
safety or whistleblowing issues during this period.

Page 2



Page 3 of 7

(d) Wolverhampton Interchange Overspend – Lessons Learned
At its meeting on 8 December 2017, the WMCA Board considered a 
report which confirmed that the Investment Board had considered the 
options for funding the Wolverhampton Interchange Project.

The Investment Board had considered the funding of this project at its 
meeting on 27 November and had confirmed that the WMCA’s 
proposed additional capital contribution of £15m could be made 
available from within the existing Investment Programme.
 
The cost of the project had increased from the original estimates, and 
it was intended that the City of Wolverhampton Council and the 
WMCA would meet these increased costs equally. 

A lessons learned report on the Wolverhampton Interchange Project 
would be considered by the Investment Board in the first instance, and 
would then be shared with Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee and 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

The City of Wolverhampton Council had also commissioned an audit 
on the project by its internal audit team and Keith Ireland, City of 
Wolverhampton Managing Director had agreed to share the outcome 
of the audit with the West Midlands Combined Authority.

Resolved

(1) The Governance Services Officer agreed to produce an action plan to 
enable members to track and monitor outstanding items of business.

(2) The Head of Governance agreed to present a governance map to enable 
members to identify the relationship and liaison with other Authority 
committees to the next meeting. 

(3) The Head of Governance agreed to circulate an organisational chart and 
brief summary for each Leadership Team post holder to members of the 
committee for information.

(4) The Interim Head of Organisational Development was to present a 
written report on the capability and vacancy risks in respect of aspiration 
versus capability at the next meeting of the committee.  The Chair had 
agreed to delay this by one meeting because of an unexpected leave of 
absence.

(5) The committee was to receive an update from the Head of Governance 
about how the West Midlands Fire Authority engaged with fire authorities 
in Non-Constituent areas. 

(6) A lessons learned report on the Wolverhampton Interchange Project 
would be considered by the Investment Board in the first instance, and 
then shared with the Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee.

Page 3



Page 4 of 7

44.  Forward Plans
The committee considered the plan of items to be reported to future 
meetings of the committee and the forward plans for the WMCA Board and 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

45.  External Audit Plan
The committee considered a report of the External Auditor that provided 
details on the external audit plan for the financial year ending 31 March 
2018.  The report outlined the planned audit strategy and the work to be 
undertaken to provide the West Midlands Combined Authority with an 
opinion on the financial statements.  Members also received information on 
how the value for money conclusion would be derived.

In terms of meeting the early close timeframe, the Director of Finance 
assured the committee that he was confident that all deadlines would be met.

Resolved

(1) The report be noted.

46.  External Audit Plan - West Midlands Integrated Transport Authority 
Pension Fund
The committee considered a report of the External Auditor that provided 
details on the scope and timing of the statutory audit of West Midlands 
Integrated Transport Authority Pension Fund.

The Chair asked whether the Director of Finance could circulate a funding 
statement in respect of assets and liabilities to members of the committee for 
their information.  

Resolved

(1) The report was noted.

(2) The Finance Director agreed to circulate a funding statement in respect 
       of assets and liabilities to members of the committee for their 

information.

47.  Internal Audit Update
The committee considered a report of the Chief Audit Executive on the work 
completed by internal audit so far this financial year.

The Chair asked for a more detailed report of the audits to be presented at 
the next meeting together with a proposed audit plan for 2018/19.  There was 
an expectation that the draft audit plan for the following year would be 
presented for discussion at future January Audit, Risk & Assurance 
Committee meetings.

Page 4



Page 5 of 7

Councillor Craig Collingswood enquired as to whether the necessary checks 
were undertaken to ensure that the recommendations were completed.  The 
Internal Auditor explained that all recommendations were followed up in a 
timely manner and where a recommendation had not been completed by its 
deadline date, this would be reported to Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee 
for consideration.

The Internal Auditor noted that, where it was thought that an implementation 
date was too long and had been challenged by internal audit, this would be 
demonstrated within future reports to the committee.

In respect of the Investment Programme, the Director of Finance commented 
that the WMCA Board had approved that all existing programmes within the 
Investment Programme that had not reached contract award stage would be 
re-scheduled rather than re-ranked as indicated within the report.  The 
Internal Auditor agreed to update the report accordingly.

Resolved

(1) The contents of the latest Internal Audit report be noted.

(2) A detailed report of the audits to be presented to the next meeting 
together with a proposed audit plan for 2018/19.  There was an 
expectation that the draft audit plan for the following year would be 
presented for discussion at future January meetings of the committee.

(3) The Chair to be briefed and consulted on the Internal Audit priorities 
before these were presented to Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee and 
agreed within the WMCA.

48.  Strategic Risk Register
The committee considered a report of the Director of Finance on the 
Strategic Risk Register.

The Corporate Risk and Business Assurance Specialist agreed to include a 
column showing the travel of risk in future reports.   It was noted that the 
Strategic Risk Register was reviewed by the WMCA Leadership Team on a 
quarterly basis.

In addition to the implications of Brexit, the collapse of Carillion and the 
impact of this would be included on the Risk Register. The Chair had asked 
officers to now propose changes to the Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee 
forward plan for the next meeting based on this Strategic Risk Register.

Resolved

(1) The contents of the Strategic Risk Register be noted.

(2) Officers to propose changes to the committee’s forward plan at the 
March meeting based on the priorities identified in the Strategic Risk 
Register.  

Page 5



Page 6 of 7

49.  WMCA Arm's Length Companies Checklist - Jan 2018
The committee considered a report of the Director of Finance that provided 
an updated checklist for Members to consider.  The checklist had been 
updated and had incorporated some of the member’s additions since the 
initial review in November 2017.

Sean Farnell considered that the checklist should also include reference to 
cyber security and General Data Protection Regulation to ensure that 
satisfaction was received.  The Corporate Assurance Manager agreed to 
update the checklist as discussed at the meeting.

Resolved

(1) The checklist that was to be used to seek confidence in assurance 
arrangements for arm's length companies related to the West Midlands 
Combined Authority be agreed, subject to regular review, it being used in 
the setting up of the arm’s length body and annual, signed submission 
with the Annual Governance Statement from the arm’s length body.

50.  Delivery of Devolution 1 & Devolution 2 Update
The committee received a verbal update from the Head of Governance on 
Devolution 1 and Devolution 2.

The Head of Governance provided an overview of the monitoring 
arrangements for Devolution 1 and noted that work continued on Devolution 
2.  The committee asked the Head of Governance to provide a written report 
on Devolution 1 and 2 at the March meeting, in particular on performance 
against the objectives and how the money had been spent.

Resolved 

(1) The verbal report was noted.

(2) The Head of Governance to submit a written report on Devolution 1 and 
Devolution 2 at the next meeting of the committee, in particular on 
performance against the objectives and how the money had been spent.

51.  Exclusion of the Public and Press
Resolved

(1) That, in accordance with s100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business as it involves information relating to an action taken or to be 
taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of 
crime.

52.  Cyber Security Presentation
The committee received a presentation from the Cyber Security Specialist on 
cyber security and General Data Protection Regulation.

Page 6



Page 7 of 7

The committee noted that the West Midlands Combined Authority had 
completed a penetrating exercise on its systems and had requested a 
summary on the outcomes.  

The Cyber Security Specialist provided an update on collaborative working, 
information sharing and the completion of a gap analysis.

Resolved

(1) The Cyber Security Specialist to provide a written update on the recent 
penetration testing exercise undertaken on WMCA systems.

(2) The Head of ICT to provide an update in respect of the completion dates 
identified within the report which seemed too long in to the future to be 
giving confidence that the risk was a priority.

(3) It be agreed that cyber security would continue to be a priority area of 
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee interest and an update paper in May 
would be expected.

53.  Friday 16 March at 10:00am
The next meeting would be held on Friday 16 March 2018 at 10:00am.

The meeting ended at 12.10 pm.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item No. 

WMCA Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee - Forward Plan

Title of Report Description of 
Purpose

Date of Meeting Lead Officer/Member

Draft WMCA Annual 
Accounts will be circulated 
to all members of the 
committee via email.

May 2018 Linda Horne

Investment Programme -
Director of Finance 
Response to Internal Audit 
Report 

To receive an update from 
the Director of Finance on 
his response to the Internal 
Audit Report

21 June 2018 Sean Pearce

Update on Internal Audit 
Report on Investment 
Committee

To receive a follow up 
report on the Internal Audit 
report 

21 June 2018 Peter Farrow

Health & Safety Reporting To receive an update on 
Health & Safety issues and 
where these are being 
reported

21 June 2018 Mark Ashmore

Standards Report To receive an update on the 
committee’s role in respect 
of elected member 
Standards

21 June 2018 Tim Martin

Strategic Risk Register To consider and comment 
on the contents of the 
Strategic Risk Register

21 June 2018 Loraine Quibell

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 6



Agenda Item No. 

Title of Report Description of 
Purpose

Date of Meeting Lead Officer/Member

Audit Findings To receive an update from 
external audit

21 June 2018 Grant Patterson

Internal Audit Update To provide an update on 
audits

21 June 2018 Peter Farrow

WMCA Annual Accounts To approve the WMCA 
Annual Accounts

21 June 2018 Linda Horne

Assurance Report Update Corporate assurance 
undertaken since the last 
update

September 2018 Joti Sharma

Internal Audit Update To provide an update on 
audits

September 2018 Peter Farrow

Internal Audit Update To provide an update on 
audits.

November 2018 Peter Farrow

Strategic Risk Register To consider and comment 
on the contents of the 
Strategic Risk Register

November 2018 Loraine Quibell

Assurance Report Update Corporate assurance 
undertaken since the last 
update

January 2019 Joti Sharma

Internal Audit Update To provide an update on 
audits

January 2019 Peter Farrow

P
age 10



Agenda Item No. 

Title of Report Description of 
Purpose

Date of Meeting Lead Officer/Member

Internal Audit Plan 2019/20 To approve the Internal 
Audit Plan
 

January 2019 Peter Farrow

Strategic Risk Register To consider and comment 
on the contents of the 
Strategic Risk Register

March 2019 Loraine Quibell

Annual Internal Audit Report To note progress on audits March 2019 Peter Farrow

Outturn Report 18/19
 

To approve the Outturn 
Report

March 2019 Tim Martin

WMCA Annual Governance 
Statement

To approve the Annual 
Governance Statement

March 2019 Tim Martin

WMCA Annual Accounts To approve the WMCA 
Annual Accounts

June 2019 Linda Horne

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 3

     
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 16th March 2018 

Report title Governance Structures

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, OBE
Chief Executive
Email Deborah.Cadman@wmca.org.uk 
Tel 0121 214 7200

Accountable 
Employee

Tim Martin
Head of Governance, Clerk and Monitoring Officer
Email Tim.Martin@wmca.org.uk
Tel 0121 214 7435

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Not Applicable 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Note the information regarding Governance Structures provided in this report.

Page 13

Agenda Item 7



 [PUBLIC]

Page 2 of 3

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the Governance Structures of the 
Combined Authority and the Boards, Bodies and Committees that are associated with it.

1.2 The Combined Authority is a complex organisation and furthermore it is still undergoing 
considerable change and development as it come to grips with its roles and responsibilities. 
The governance diagrams that are attached to this report show the current structures that 
are to be found in the Combined Authority however these are still changing as we move 
forward so this information is correct at the time of writing but is kept under review on an 
ongoing basis by the Monitoring Officer.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Combined Authority is a public body established under the powers in the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 (as amended). As such, 
although not a traditional local government entity it has a number of  the characteristics of a 
Local Authority that will be familiar to those used to working with that tier of government. 
Originally the Authority was established as a Combined Authority without an elected Mayor 
and in 2017 it was created as a Mayoral Combined Authority with the election of the first 
Mayor, Andy Street.

2.2 The Authority has a clear constitution which sets out responsibility for decision-making and 
an appropriate scheme of delegation. As a rule of thumb all decisions of significance are 
taken by the Combined Authority Board and many of the other Boards and committees are 
effectively advisory only. Notable exceptions to this are the Investment Board which currently 
has delegated decision making powers up to £20m from funds in the Investment programme 
and ARAC which has a number of specific delegated powers relating to accounts and audit 
functions.

2.3 Initially, the Combined Authority pursued its policy objectives through a number of 
Commissions. As these Commissions have completed their work and made 
recommendations, many of these areas have been established as Boards comprising elected 
members from Constituent Authorities and other individuals who help to steer and “project 
manage” the work in these areas. These meetings are formally supported by Governance 
Services and their minutes are presented to the CA Board for information and approval.

2.4 In an attempt to capture the admittedly complex governance relationships in diagrammatic 
form two formats have been produced. The first one is perhaps the more traditional 
organisation chart which is shown in hierarchy form. This shows the reporting lines between 
different bodies in the current structure. This demonstrates the pre-eminent position of the 
CA Board and the way in which other bodies both report upwards and also have a number of 
sub-groups and working groups which report to them. The second format is something like 
the form of a Venn diagram which attempts to group the different forums by function as follows

 Strategy
 Governance and Oversight
 Finance and Delivery

Bodies are either shown as firmly within those primary categories or where they discharge a 
number of roles, they are shown in the intersecting sections of the diagram. So, for example, 

Page 14



 [PUBLIC]

Page 3 of 3

ARAC has both elements of Governance and Oversight and, Finance and Delivery within its 
remit.

3.0 Financial implications

3.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report.

4.0 Legal implications

4.1 These governance maps or diagrams are provided for assistance and illustration. They do 
not have any legal force as the decision-making powers and duties of the Combined Authority 
are derived from the Constitution, the Orders and ultimately from primary legislation. There 
has been a request from a number of sources including ARAC for further review work on 
Governance Structures and this is programmed for 2018/19.

5.0 Equalities implications

5.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report.

6.0 Appendices

Appendix 1 WMCA Meetings Hierarchy. 

Appendix 2 WMCA Governance Relationships.

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Audit, Risk & 
 Assurance Cttee 

WMCA 
Board 

WMCA 
Programme Board 

Investment 
Advisory Group 

Technical Appraisal 
Panel 

Land Remediation 
Fund WG 

WMCA 
Leadership Team 

Investment Board 
Overview & Scrutiny 

Cttee 
Transport Delivery 

Cttee 
Wellbeing 

Board 

HS2 Growth Delivery 
Board 

Task & Finish 
Groups (as 
required) 

Collective 
Investment Fund 
Advisory Working 

Group 

 

West Midlands Bus 
Alliance Board 

‘West Midlands on 
the Move’ Sub-Cttee 

Bus Satisfaction Task 
& Finish Group 

Strategic Economic 
Plan Board 

WMCA Meeting Hierarchy Members Strategic Officers Operational Officers 
 

Skills & Productivity 
Commission 

Public Service Reform 
Executive 

Public Service Reform 
Delivery Group 

Housing & Land 
Delivery Board 

Culture & Tourism 
Board 

Employment & Skills 
Officer Group 

Thrive West Midlands 
Operational Group 

Health Devolution 
Sub-Group 

Housing Land & 
Delivery Steering Gp 

Inclusive Growth 
Board 

Metropolitan 
Authority Leaders 

Non-Constituent 
Authority Leaders 

P
age 17



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Audit, Risk & 
 Assurance Cttee 

WMCA 
Board 

Investment Board 

Overview & 
Scrutiny Cttee 

Transport Delivery 
Cttee 

Wellbeing 
Board 

HS2 Growth 
Delivery Board 

Strategic Economic 
Plan Board 

WMCA Governance Relationships 

Housing & Land 
Delivery Board 

Inclusive Growth 
Board 

Non-Constituent 
Authorities mtg 

 Task & Finish 
Groups 

Programme 
Board 

 ‘West Midlands 
on the Move’ 
Physical Activity 

 Thrive West 
Midlands 
Mental Health 

 
 Investment 

Advisory Group 

 Technical 
Appraisal Panel 

Skills & 
Productivity 
Commission 

Governance/ 
Oversight 

Strategy 

Finance/ 
Delivery 

Arm’s Length Delivery Vehicles 

 Midland Metro Ltd 

 West Midlands Development Capital 

 West Midlands Growth Company 

 West Midlands Rail 

Metropolitan 
Leaders mtg 

 Bus Alliance Board 

 Bus Satisfaction Gp 

P
age 19



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 7

     
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 16th March 2018 

Report title Capability & Vacancy Risks

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, OBE
Chief Executive
Email: Deborah.Cadman@wmca.org.uk 
Tel: 0121 214 7200
 

Accountable 
Employee

Sean Pearce, Director of Finance
Email:sean.pearce@wmca.org.uk
Tel:0121 214 7936

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Note the content of the report

2. Note the actions and considerations taken including systems and planning processes to 
manage Capability and Vacancy Risks

Page 21

Agenda Item 8



 [PUBLIC]

Page 2 of 7

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of the report is to provide ARAC a formal progress update on how the WMCA 
plans to meet capability and capacity demand through its resourcing and planning processes 
to ensure vacancies are managed effectively and deliver planned outcomes for the 
organisation.

2.0 Background

2.1 Detailed budgetary and business planning work has taken place across the WMCA from 
October 2017 to January 2018 alongside the WMCA leadership team engaged in dialogue 
to identify delivery of strategic outcomes for their respective areas and the aspirations of the 
WMCA as a whole.
 

2.2 An ambitious plan of activities for the 18/19 period has been identified through the Business 
Planning process which reflects the WMCA’s responsibilities, whilst retaining the flexibility 
needed to respond to new funding opportunities and the ability to respond to the 
challenging economic climate

2.3 On 9 February 2018, the WMCA Board approved the budget for 2018/19 and gave their 
backing to the proposed figure of £170 million

2.4 Detailed workforce planning, monitoring and management is being undertaken by the HR 
team and will continue as recruitment plans evolve into the first quarter of the financial year. 
Business Partner discussions have a focus on identifying resource pressures that need 
early consideration by recruiting managers, particularly where capacity and capability 
issues are known through business partner liaison. To resource the proposed areas of 
activities which have a human resources impact there is agreement that a flexible approach 
will be needed to meet demand with a mixed model of resourcing though direct advertising, 
secondment arrangements, talent management, succession planning as well as 
consultants, partnership support through the Local Authorities and bespoke agency 
engagement where posts are niche and competitive.  Aligned to this tools and systems i.e. 
the Strategic Risk Register have been updated to formally review, monitor and flag any 
risks against the WMCA’s capability and capacity to meet vacancy fulfilment.  The WMCA’s 
leadership has also taken ownership to regularly review this.

2.5 Outside of the agreed establishment for 18/19, where there is additional requirement for 
resource an approval process with the Director of Finance, Heads of Service, Finance and 
HR sign is being established in readiness for quarter 1 of 18/19 to ensure transparency of 
decision making within delegated levels of authority and assurance that good financial and 
establishment control is in place.  

3.0 Establishment data

3.1 As at the of end February 2018, the WMCA’s establishment figure has agreed as 478.72 full 
time equivalent posts in line with the budget. Table 1 below provides a breakdown across 
the organisation:

Page 22



 [PUBLIC]

Page 3 of 7

 Table 1 

Function Headcount FTE Vacancy FTE total 
TfWM/Corporate 
Services 435 425.12
Vacancies 75 73.88 73.88
Employees 360 351.24
Commissions 43 41.6
Vacancies 27 25.60 25.60
Employees (Inc 
Secondees) 16 16.00
Mayoral Office 12 12
Vacancies 6 6.00 6.00
Employees 6 6.00
WMCA Total 490 478.72 105.48

3.2 The total number of vacancies to be recruited during the 18/19 period is 105.48 FTE. Of the 
105.48 FTE there has already been work undertaken to instigate early recruitment plans 
and timetables particularly within the area of the Commissions and TfWM.
  

3.3 As a comparator for the period 17/18 the WMCA recruited to 109 vacancies which included 
turnover with 2 Human Resources professionals supporting vacancy management.  The 
total number of posts to be recruited in the 18/19 establishment is 108 headcount (105.48 
fte), however with the turnover rate based on 17/18 this would inflate overall vacancy 
management for the HR team to a further circa 50 posts therefore a potential vacancy 
management of 158 posts.  The difference of an additional 49 posts is the additional stretch 
and capacity demand required of the HR team.  This has been identified early and factored 
into the HR team’s capability and capacity to deliver with specific additional resource in 
place.

3.4 The WMCA has three Human Resources professionals primarily responsible for recruitment 
activities reporting to the Interim Head of Organisation Development. This is a permanent 
increase of 1 FTE since December 2016 where it was initially identified that capacity within 
the HR team was insufficient to meet demands for recruitment and resourcing. In addition a 
further temporary increase of 1 FTE at Business Partner level has been engaged since 
January 2018 to support the vacancy management process and to proactively timeline and 
workforce plan where the tranche of activity will be concentrated in the next 12 months. The 
final position of this tranche of activity will be completed by end of March.

3.5 The HR team has piloted a skills gaps analysis process within the team to identify areas of 
expertise in the function and also where there may be pressures to deliver and expertise is 
currently not available or capacity does not exist.  Through this process the team have been 
aligned to support objectives on their strengths but also to put in place a plan to cross work 
and upskill. Plans to deliver this across the organisation as a supportive tool for managers to 
identify skills will form part of the teams work for 18/19.  An example of the skills mapping 
questionnaire is included as Appendix 1 which will be through an automated workflow 
process.

Page 23



 [PUBLIC]

Page 4 of 7

4.0 Recruitment priority planning

4.1 Following the agreed establishment data becoming available, a draft recruitment plan to 
inform where activity is planned has been developed. This is presented in Table 2 below 
and will be used to determine how resources are initially prioritised and deployed to ensure 
delivery of the business plan, outcomes and budget to target.

Table 2

4.2 The blue graph line in Table 2 identifies the month that recruitment will commence, which 
has been identified by the recruiting managers. Although this indicates the majority of 
recruitment activity taking place between March and June, this is in the context of when 
the recruitment has been agreed to start. The orange graph line indicates projected 
turnover based on the previous 12 months showing where additional recruitment will also 
be required. A direct correlation should not be made that additional temporary HR 
resource is only required during the blue line peak timescale. The grey graph line predicts 
where following recruitment of new employees to vacancies, interviewing and on-boarding 
activity will be focussed which is a HR managed process.

4.3 Established posts within HR will not increase during the period and additional capacity will 
be accommodated by short term agency staff. 

5.0 Risk

5.1 Not managing and recognising capacity and vacancy management by the HR team could 
increase the risk level for the organisation leading to potential legal, financial and reputational 
damage including the inability to attract, retain and develop talent to fulfil strategic objectives. 
There is also risk that there could be an impact on the ability to secure future funding if key 
roles are not resourced in time.

5.2 The workforce planning process will be used to mitigate against a decrease of capacity within 
the existing HR team with regular review by the Interim Head of OD.  Our early workforce 
planning indications suggest peak recruitment and resourcing activity will be concentrated 
around March – June 2018. Further detailed work is being undertaken to breakdown and 

Page 24



 [PUBLIC]

Page 5 of 7

identify the posts planned for recruitment within the peaks of Table 1, Director and Service 
Heads discussions may have an impact on the peaks and potentially move the concentration 
of posts from March – June to create a smoother curve into the second quarter of the financial 
year with minimal impact to outcome delivery. Until these conversations have been concluded 
table 1 remains as the draft workforce planning model. The continuation of additional 
temporary resource to support the team, as well as maintain business as usual, will be critical 
during this time. In addition the health and wellbeing and impact of additional demand from 
the 18/19 plan will need to be kept under senior management review to avoid loss of key 
staff. Work is currently being undertaken by the HR team to mitigate against loss of key staff 
through introducing schemes on ‘Building a Future Workforce’ which includes attraction of 
Graduates, Apprenticeships, Placements and Traineeships.

5.3 There is acknowledgement a healthy stretch of the existing staffing complement will be 
needed alongside streamlining and automation of processes to ensure they are lean and 
efficient. 

5.4 Proactive support from a health and wellbeing perspective remains an important facet of the 
organisational benefits offer to ensure we create a resilient organisation but also recognise 
the effect of increased or intensive activity during periods where resources may not have 
been secured. 

6.0 Risk Mitigation

6.1 Approaches such as secondment arrangements, commissioned activity and direct 
recruitment as well as refocusing of priorities have all been considerations in identifying the 
correct resourcing models needed to support delivery.  This has underpinned and informed 
the tranche of HR support needed to achieve fulfilment of vacancies.

6.2 Business Partner discussions are already plugged into the workforce planning process to 
identify spikes in recruitment activity.

6.3 HR is reviewing its current practice that Business Partners take part in all recruitment panels.  
This is a result of a recent review which highlighted that this blanket approach was not 
sustainable or efficient. To achieve this, work to coach, support and equip managers in 
recruitment best practice is currently being developed. 

6.4 To further highlight any emerging capacity issues an OD dashboard of information is now a 
regular item on the Leadership team’s forward plan providing metrics on establishment, 
vacancy rate on a monthly basis and sickness absence data. Leadership team also have a 
responsibility to review the strategic risk register.

6.5  HR Business Partner conversations include early alerts on correlations between the 
projected increased workload and impact on staff. This approach allows recognition of any 
stress management issues and for support s to be put in place 

6.6 ARAC is asked to note the organisation is formally monitoring Capability and Vacancy Risk 
through the Corporate Risk Register and part of monthly discussions on progress, action and 
update. Workforce planning is being undertaken by HR Business Partners through monthly 
updates by team directorate and overall organisation.  This information is a source fed into 
the monthly OD dashboard metrics submitted to the Leadership Team to ensure there is a 

Page 25



 [PUBLIC]

Page 6 of 7

cyclical process of managing vacancy risk through commentary, update and action. It is to be 
noted this work is in progress and will continue into the first quarter of the new financial year. 

6.7 With the successful on boarding of the full and permanent leadership team the organisation 
is in a stronger position to define the organisations purpose, identify the outcomes required 
and strategically align resources to deliver, in addition the resilience of the current resources 
is discussed by leadership. There is a healthy appetite amongst the leadership team to 
discuss risk and this is well facilitated by organisational metrics.

7.0 Wider WMCA Implications

7.1 The impact of not having an adaptable and flexible resourcing model and workforce planning 
in place will have a significant impact on the WMCA’s overall ability to deliver along with 
reputational risk and the ability to secure future funding.  

8.0 Financial implications

8.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this report. The 2018/19 budgeting 
process has taken place and formal approval received for the WMCA’s budget.

8.2 Assumptions on the timing of recruitment to the individual posts were made through 
discussions with responsible managers and the costs included in the 18/19 budget. The 
financial implication of any revised recruitment profile as a result of workforce planning will 
be continually re-assessed and included in the financial monitoring position.

9.0 Legal implications

9.1 There are no specific legal implications arising from this report.

10.0 Equalities implications

10.1 There are no equalities implications arising from this report.

11.0 Other implications

7.1 N/A. 

12.0 Schedule of background papers

8.1 N/A.

13.0 Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Skills Map 

Page 26



 [PUBLIC]

Page 7 of 7

Appendix 1  

Skills Map

Please use this form to identify your Professional Qualifications, Specialisms and experience of Other Sectors.

A maximum of 10 items can be added to each category. When you have completed a section, click on any white space 
to update the form and show the next section. Please ensure that you click submit at the bottom of the form when 
completed.

Name
(Please enter your name)

Professional Qualifications

Please identify the Professional Qualifications you hold and the level.

Qualification (1):

Qualification Level (1):

Specialisms

Please highlight any particular specialisms you have beyond those utilised in your core role.

Specialism (1):

Experience of Other Sectors

Please list any other sectors / organisations you have experience of working within.

Experience of Other Sectors (1):

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 3

     
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 16th March 2018 

Report title WMCA Progress Report March 2018

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, OBE
Chief Executive of the WMCA
Email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7552 

Accountable 
Employee

Sean Pearce
WMCA Director of Finance
Email: sean.pearce@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7936

Report to be/has been 
considered by

None 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Review and note the contents of the report.

Page 29

Agenda Item 9



 [PUBLIC]

Page 2 of 3

1.0 Purpose

1.1 This paper provides the Committee with a report on progress in the delivery of the 
responsibilities of the external auditors against the external audit plan. 

1.2 The paper also includes a summary of emerging national issues and developments for your 
consideration and information, as well as a number of challenge questions in respect of these 
emerging issues. These are a tool to use, if helpful, rather than formal questions requiring 
responses for audit responses.

2.0 Background

2.1 The statutory responsibilities of the external audit function are:

 To be satisfied that the accounts comply with the requirements of the enactments 
that apply to them

 To be satisfied that proper practices have been observed in the preparation of the 
statement of accounts and that the statement presents a true and fair view

 To be satisfied that the audited body has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

The report sets out the progress of the external auditors against these responsibilities during 
the year to date.

3.0 Wider WMCA Implications

3.1 None

4.0 Progress, options, discussion, etc.

4.1 N/A

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 The financial implications are included within the body of the report.

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 There are no direct legal implications.

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 There are no implications.

7.0 Other implications

7.1 None.

Page 30



 [PUBLIC]

Page 3 of 3

8.0 Schedule of background papers

8.1 External Audit Plan, dated 19 January 2018, as presented and discussed by the ARAC 
meeting of the same date.

9.0 Appendices 

ARAC - WMCA Progress Report March 2018.

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit Progress Report and Sector Update
West Midlands Combined Authority
Year ending 31 March 2018
16 March 2018

P
age 33



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

Contents
Section Page
Introduction 3
Progress at March 2018 4
Audit Deliverables 5
Results of Interim Audit Work 6
Sector Update 8
Links 15

2

P
age 34



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

This paper provides the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee with a report 
on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. 
The paper also includes:
• a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as; and
• includes a number of challenge questions in respect of these emerging issues which the Committee may wish to 

consider (these are a tool to use, if helpful, rather than formal questions requiring responses for audit purposes)

Members of the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee (ARAC) can find further useful material on our website, where 
we have a section dedicated to our work in the public sector. Here you can download copies of our publications. Click 
on the Grant Thornton logo to be directed to the website www.grant-thornton.co.uk .
If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to 
receive regular email updates on issues that are of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or 
Engagement Manager.

Introduction

3

Grant Patterson
Engagement Lead
T 0121 232 5296
E grant.b.patterson@uk.gt.com

Nicola Coombe
Engagement Manager
T 0121 232 5206
E nicola.coombe@uk.gt.com

P
age 35



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

Value for Money
The scope of our work is set out in the guidance issued 
by the National Audit Office. The Code requires auditors 
to satisfy themselves that; "the Authority has made 
proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources".
The guidance confirmed the overall criterion as: "in all 
significant respects, the audited body had proper 
arrangements to ensure it took properly informed 
decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned 
and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local 
people".
The three sub criteria for assessment to be able to give a 
conclusion overall are:
•Informed decision making
•Sustainable resource deployment
•Working with partners and other third parties
We made our initial risk assessment to determine our 
approach in December 2017 and reported this to you in 
our Audit Plan in January 2018. The key risk we identified 
was the evolution of the Combined Authority’s 
governance arrangements
We will report our work in the Audit Findings Report and 
give our Value For Money Conclusion by the earlier 
deadline of 31 July 2018.

Progress at March 2018

4

Other areas
Meetings
We met with Finance Officers in January and February 
as part of our interim audit and continue to be in 
discussions with finance staff regarding emerging 
developments and to ensure the audit process is smooth 
and effective. 
Events
We held a Chief Accountant’s workshop, which 
members of your finance team attended, and which 
provided briefings and technical updates ahead of the 
2017/18 financial statements preparation.
We provided training to the ARAC on pensions 
accounting and disclosures at its meeting on 19 January 
2018. 
We provide a range of workshops, along with network 
events for members and publications to support the 
Authority. As noted at the last ARAC meeting our next 
event is on 15 March 2018 in partnership with City of 
Wolverhampton Council being held at Wolverhampton 
Art Gallery. 
Further details of the publications that may be of interest 
to the Combined Authority are set out in our Sector 
Update section of this report.

Financial Statements Audit
We have started planning for the 2017/18 financial 
statements audit and have issued a detailed audit 
plan, setting out our proposed approach to the audit 
of the Combined Authority's 2017/18 financial 
statements.
We conducted our interim audit in January and 
February 2018. Our interim fieldwork visit includes:
• Updated review of the Authority’s control 

environment
• Updated understanding of financial systems
• Review of Internal Audit reports 
• Early work on emerging accounting issues
• Early substantive testing
The findings from our interim audit are summarised at 
page 6 to 8. 
The statutory deadline for the issue of the 2017/18 
opinion is brought forward by two months to 31 July 
2018. We have discussed and agreed our plan and 
timetable with officers to ensure that this deadline is 
met.
The final accounts audit is due to begin on the 8 May 
2018. We currently plan to report our findings for 
2018 in our Audit Findings Report to the ARAC 
meeting on 21 June 2018. There is a provisional later 
date, if necessary, which will enable us to achieve the 
earlier deadline of 31 July 2018.

P
age 36



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

Audit Deliverables

5

2017/18 Deliverables Planned Date Status
Fee Letter 
Confirming audit fee for 2017/18.

April 2017 Complete

Accounts Audit Plan
We are required to issue a detailed accounts audit plan to the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee 
setting out our proposed approach in order to give an opinion on the Combined Authority’s 2017-18 
financial statements.

January 2018 Complete

Interim Audit Findings
We will report to you the findings from our interim audit and our initial value for money risk assessment 
within our Progress Report.

March 2018 This report refers

Audit Findings Report
The Audit Findings Report will be reported to the June Audit Committee.

June 2018 Not yet due

Auditors Report
This is the opinion on your financial statement, annual governance statement and value for money 
conclusion.

June 2018 Not yet due

Annual Audit Letter
This letter communicates the key issues arising from our work.

August 2018 Not yet due

P
age 37



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

Results of Interim Audit Work

6

The findings of our interim audit work, and the impact of our findings on the accounts audit approach, are summarised in the table below:

Work performed Conclusions and recommendations
Internal audit We have completed a high level review of internal audit's overall 

arrangements. Our work has not identified any issues which we wish to bring 
to your attention. 
We have also reviewed internal audit's work on the Authority’s key financial 
systems to date. Under audit standards we are prevented from directing the 
work of internal audit and therefore cannot gain direct assurance from it 
however we not identified any significant weaknesses from our review of their 
work which impacts upon our responsibilities.  

Overall, we have concluded that the internal audit service provides 
an independent and satisfactory service to the Combined Authority 
and that internal audit work contributes to an effective internal 
control environment.
Our review of internal audit work has not identified any weaknesses 
which impact on our audit approach. 

Entity level controls We have obtained an understanding of the overall control environment 
relevant to the preparation of the financial statements including:
• Communication and enforcement of integrity and ethical values
• Commitment to competence
• Participation by those charged with governance
• Management's philosophy and operating style
• Organisational structure
• Assignment of authority and responsibility
• Human resource policies and practices

Our work has identified no material weaknesses which are likely to 
adversely impact on the Combined Authority’s financial statements.

Review of information 
technology controls

We performed a high level review of the general IT control environment, as 
part of the overall review of the internal controls system. 
IT (information technology) controls were observed to have been implemented 
in accordance with our documented understanding.

Our work has identified no material weaknesses which are likely to 
adversely impact on the Authority’s financial statements. We are in 
the process of following up last year’s IT recommendations and will 
report our findings in our Audit Findings Report.

Walkthrough testing We have completed walkthrough tests of the Authority’s controls operating in 
areas where we consider that  there is a risk of material misstatement to the 
financial statements, which we consider to be in relation to completeness of 
payroll expenses and completeness of non-pay expenses.
Our work has not identified any issues which we wish to bring to your 
attention. Internal controls have been implemented by the Combined Authority 
in accordance with our documented understanding. 

Our work has not identified any weaknesses which impact on our 
audit approach. 
Note that we will conduct further walkthrough testing with regard to 
controls in place in respect of the valuation of the pension fund net 
liability, which we also identified to be a risk, when the actuary’s 
report is received during our audit in May.

P
age 38



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018 7

Work performed Conclusions and recommendations
Journal entry controls We have reviewed the Authority’s journal entry policies and procedures as part of determining our journal entry testing strategy and have not identified any material weaknesses which are likely to adversely impact on the Authority’s control environment or financial statements.

Our work has not identified any weaknesses which impact on our 
audit approach. We will obtain the full year’s journal population as 
part of our year end audit and select ‘unusual’ entries for further 
review.

Early substantive
testing

Minimum Revenue Provision
During the year the Combined Authority opted to change the way it calculates its MRP. The Authority reached its conclusions on amending the methodology based upon the statutory guidance currently in force. We have discussed these with management and provided audit challenge. On the basis of these discussions we are not minded to challenge the proposals. On 2 February 2018 MHCLG published updated guidance (see page 10 for further detail) which address changing methods for calculating MRP. These elements come into force from 1 April 2018. As the new regulations in this area come into force from 2018/19 we do not believe there are factors that would make us reconsider our view but we will maintain a watching brief and discuss with management if and when the need arises.
Pensions Prepayments
The Combined Authority has made advance payments during 2017/18 in respect of pension contributions for the three years to 2019/20. We have obtained supporting evidence for these prepayments as well as seeing the advice from the Authority’s in-house legal team and are satisfied with the audit trail in place to support these payments. We will need to ensure on receipt of the draft financial statements that it has been accounted for in the financial statements correctly.
Operating Expenses, Other Revenues (i.e. not Grant Revenues), Ticketing We have undertaken sample testing of transactions of the above areas up to month 9 (ie up to and including December 2017). We will top up this testing during our audit in May.
Employee RemunerationWe have undertaken substantive analytical review of payroll up to month 9 (ieup to and including December 2017). We will top up this testing during our audit in May.

Our work has not identified any weaknesses which impact on our 
audit approach or findings which we need to bring to your attention.

Results of Interim Audit Work (continued)

P
age 39



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

Local government finances are at a tipping point. 
Councils are tackling a continuing drive to 
achieve greater efficiency in the delivery of 
public services, whilst facing the challenges to 
address rising demand, ongoing budget 
pressures and social inequality.

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of 
emerging national issues and developments to support you. We 
cover areas which may have an impact on your organisation, the 
wider NHS and the public sector as a whole. Links are provided to 
the detailed report/briefing to allow you to delve further and find 
out more. 
Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake research 
on service and technical issues. We will bring you the latest 
research publications in this update. We also include areas of 
potential interest to start conversations within the organisation and 
with audit committee members, as well as any accounting and 
regulatory updates. 

Sector Update

8

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local 
government sections on the Grant Thornton website

• Grant Thornton Publications
• Insights from local  government sector 

specialists
• Reports of interest
• Accounting and regulatory updates

P
age 40



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

Public Sector Audit Appointments: Report on the results of auditors’ work 2016/17 
This is the third report on the results of auditors’ work at local 
government bodies published by PSAA. It summarises the 
results of auditors’ work at 497 principal bodies and 9,752 
small bodies for 2016/17. The report covers the timeliness 
and quality of financial reporting, auditors’ local value for 
money work, and the extent to which auditors used their 
statutory reporting powers.
The timeliness and quality of financial reporting for 2016/17, as reported by auditors, 
remained broadly consistent with the previous year for both principal and small bodies. 
Compared with 2015/16, the number of principal bodies that received an unqualified audit 
opinion by 31 July showed an encouraging increase. 83 principal bodies (17 per cent) 
received an unqualified opinion on their accounts by the end of July compared with 49 (10 
per cent) for 2015/16. These bodies appear to be well positioned to meet the earlier statutory 
accounts publication timetable that will apply for 2017/18 accounts.
Less positively, the proportion of principal bodies where the auditor was unable to issue the 
opinion by 30 September increased compared to 2015/16. Auditors at 92 per cent of councils 
(331 out of 357) were able to issue the opinion on the accounts by 30 September 2017, 
compared to 96 per cent for the previous year. This is a disappointing development in the 
context of the challenging new reporting timetable from 2017/18. All police bodies, 29 out of 
30 fire and rescue authorities and all other local government bodies received their audit 
opinions by 30 September 2017.

The number of qualified conclusions on value for money arrangements has remained 
relatively constant at 7 per cent (30 councils, 2 fire and rescue authorities and 1 other local 
government body) compared to 8 per cent for 2015/16. The most common reasons for 
auditors issuing non-standard conclusions on the 2016/17 accounts were:
• the impact of issues identified in the reports of statutory inspectorates;
• corporate governance issues; and
• financial sustainability.
The latest results of auditors’ work on the financial year to 31 March 2017 show a solid 
position for the majority of principal local government bodies. Generally, high standards of 
financial reporting are being maintained despite the financial and service delivery challenges 
currently facing local government.

9

P
age 41



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

Changes to the prudential framework of capital finance
The Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government 
has updated the Local Authority Investments Guidance and 
the Minimum Revenue following its publication of consultation 
responses on 2 February 2018.
A total of 213 consultation responses were received by the MHCLG by the 22 December 
2017 deadline from across local government. Following consideration of the responses the 
Government has:
• made some technical changes to the Investments Guidance and MRP Guidance
• amended proposals relating to useful economic lives of assets
• implemented the Investments Guidance for 2018-19, but allowed flexibility on when the 

additional disclosure first need to be presented to full Council
• deferred implementation of MRP Guidance to 2019-20 apart from the guidance 

“Changing methods for calculating MRP”, which applies from 1 April 2018.
Key changes are noted below.
Statutory Guidance on Local Authority Investments
Transparency and democratic accountability – the revised guidance retains the 
requirement for an Investment Strategy to be prepared at least annually and introduces 
some additional disclosures to improve transparency. However, as the changes to the 
CIPFA  Prudential Code include a new requirement for local authorities to prepare a Capital 
Strategy, the revised guidance allows the matters required to be disclosed in the Investment 
Strategy to be disclosed in the Capital Strategy.
Principle of contribution – the consultation sought views on the introduction of a new 
principle requiring local authorities to disclose the contribution that non-core investments 
make towards core functions. Authorities’ core objectives include ‘service delivery objectives 
and/or placemaking role.’ This clarification has been made to recognise the fact that local 
authorities have a key role in facilitating the long term regeneration and economic growth of 
their local areas and that they may want to hold long term investments to facilitate this.
Introduction of a concept of proportionality – the Government is concerned that some 
local authorities may become overly dependent on commercial income as a source of 
revenue for delivering statutory services. The consultation sought views on requiring local 
authorities to disclose their dependence on commercial income to deliver statutory services 
and the amount of borrowing that has been committed to generate that income. A majority of 
respondents supported the introduction of a concept of proportionality, recognising the 
importance that local authorities make decisions based on an understanding of the overall 
risk that they face.

Borrowing in advance of need – by bringing non-financial investments (held primarily or 
partially to generate a profit) within the scope of the Investments Guidance, the consultation 
proposals made it clear that borrowing to fund acquisition of non-financial assets solely to 
generate a profit is not prudential. The Investment Guidance requires local authorities who 
have borrowed in advance of need solely to generate a profit to explain why they have 
chosen to disregard statutory guidance.  It is also important to note that nothing in the 
Investment Guidance or the Prudential Code overrides statute, and local authorities will still 
need to consider whether any novel transaction is lawful by reference to legislation.
Minimum Revenue Provision Guidance
The consultation sought views on proposals to update the guidance relating to MRP to 
ensure local authorities are making prudent provision for the repayment of debt.
Meaning of a charge to the revenue account – the Government does not believe that 
crediting the revenue account is either prudent or within the spirit of the approach set out in 
the relevant Regulations. For this reason a charge to the account should not be a negative 
charge.
Impact of changing methods of calculating MRP – the Government does not expect any 
local authority to recalculate MRP charged in prior years due to the proposed changes in 
methodology. 

10

Changes to capital finance framework
Challenge question: 
Has your Director of Finance briefed members on the impact of the 
changes to the prudential framework of capital finance?

Introduction of a maximum economic life of assets – the 
consultation sought views on setting a maximum useful 
economic life of 50 years for freehold land and 40 years for 
other assets. The MRP Guidance will set a maximum life of 50 
years, but allow local authorities to exceed this where the 
related debt is PFI debt with a longer term than 50 years, or 
where a local authority has an opinion from an appropriately 
qualified person that an operational asset will deliver benefits 
for more than 50 years.

P
age 42



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

CIPFA publications - The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2017 Edition)
CIPFA have published an updated ‘Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities’. Key developments include the introduction of more contextual reporting 
through the requirement to produce a capital strategy along with streamlined 
indicators. 
The framework established by the Prudential Code should support local strategic planning, local asset management planning and
proper option appraisal. The objectives of the Prudential Code are to ensure, within this clear framework, that the capital 
investment plans of local authorities are affordable, prudent and sustainable.
Local authorities are required by regulation to have regard to the Prudential Code when carrying out their duties in England and
Wales under Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003, in Scotland under Part 7 of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003, 
and in Northern Ireland under Part 1 of the Local Government Finance Act (Northern Ireland) 2011.
Since the Prudential Code was last updated in 2011, the landscape for public service delivery has changed significantly following 
the sustained period of reduced public spending and the developing localism agenda. It reflects the increasing diversity in the 
sector and new structures, whilst providing for streamlined reporting and indicators to encourage better understanding of local 
circumstances and improve decision making.
The introduction of a capital strategy allows individual local authorities to give greater weight to local circumstances and explain 
their approach to borrowing and investment.
The Code is available in hard copy and online.

11

CIPFA Publication
Challenge question: 
Has your Director of Finance briefed members on the impact of the 
changes to the prudential code?                                                  

.

P
age 43



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

Overview of the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)

12

What is it?
The GDPR is the most significant development in data protection for 20 years. It 
introduces new rights for individuals and new obligations for public and private 
sector organisations. 

What’s next?
Many public sector organisations have already developed strategic plans to 
implement the GDPR, which require policy, operational, governance and 
technology changes to ensure compliance by 25th May 2018. 

How will this affect 
you? 

What organisations 
need to do by May 

2018  

 All organisations that process personal data will be affected by the GDPR. 
 The definition of 'personal data' has been clarified to include any data that can identify a living individual, either directly or 

indirectly. Various unique personal identifiers (including online cookies and IP addresses) will fall within the scope of personal 
data

 Local government organisations need to be able to provide evidence of completion of their GDPR work to internal and external 
stakeholders, to internal audit and to regulators. 

 New policies and procedures need to be fully signed off and operational. 

Organisation Accountability Notifications and Rights Claims and Fines
 Organisations must document their assurance 

procedures, and make them available to regulators
 Some organisations need to designate a Data 

Protection Officer, who has expert knowledge of data 
protection law

 Organisations must notify significant data 
breaches to regulators within 72 hours

 Organisations must explain to individuals what 
their rights over their personal information are and 
how it is being processed and protected

 For the most serious data breaches, privacy 
regulators can impose penalties of up to €20 
million on public sector organisations, 

 Individuals and representative organisations can 
claim compensation for infringements of data 
protection lawQuestions for your organisation:

• Can your organisation erase personal data effectively?
• Have you appointed a Data Protection Officer if required to have one?
• How will your organisation ensure citizens know how their data is being used and whether it’s being shared with other 

organisations? 

P
age 44



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

Through a local lens: SOLACE summit 2017

This was a strong message coming out of discussions at the 
recent SOLACE (Society of Local Authority Chief Executives) 
summit where we facilitated 100 local authority CEOs and 
senior leaders to consider how the Industrial Strategy could 
be brought to life at a local level. 
For some time now we have engaged in an ongoing and 
inclusive dialogue with communities and business, local 
authority and third sector leaders from across the country, to 
share aspirations, ideas and insight focused on building a 
vibrant economy for the UK. These discussions have helped 
to form the basis of our Vibrant Economy ‘Blueprint for the 
UK’ and they will go on to inform our recommendations to 
Government around a place-based approach to the Industrial 
Strategy.
This year’s summit provided us with an invaluable opportunity 
to take this dialogue further.
We focused on the integral role local government will have in 
delivering the Industrial Strategy. Delegates applied a local 
lens to the national growth agenda, encouraging them to 
consider what strategies and approaches were already 
working in their place; what they could be doing more of to 
support growth in their area, and how they could steer the 
Industrial Strategy agenda from a local level.

13

What role would leaders and local 
institutions be playing if they were delivering 
positive outcomes from the industrial 
strategy? 

Looking ahead and considering our diverse 
local authority agendas, the industrial 
strategy and surrounding policy landscape 
what aspects might work well for everyone?

Using the appreciative inquiry technique, we discussed the following questions:

You can  see and hear what delegates thought on our website

The Industrial Strategy matters to places but places also matter to the Industrial Strategy.

P
age 45



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

Supply Chain Insights tool helps support supply chain assurance in public services
Grant Thornton UK LLP has launched a new insights and 
benchmarking platform to support supply chain assurance 
and competitor intelligence in public services. 
The Supply Chain Insights service is designed for use by financial directors and procurement 
professionals in the public sector, and market leaders in private sector suppliers to the public 
sector. It provides users with a detailed picture of contract value and spend with their supply 
chain members across the public sector. The analysis also provides a robust and granular 
view on the viability, sustainability, market position and coverage of their key suppliers and 
competitors.
The platform is built on aggregated data from 96 million invoices and covers £0.5 trillion of 
spending.  The data is supplemented with financial standing data and indicators to give a 
fully rounded view. The service is supported by a dedicated team of analysts and is available 
to access directly as an on-line platform.
Phillip Woolley, Partner, Grant Thornton UK LLP, said: 
"The fall-out from the recent failure of Carillion has highlighted the urgent need for robust and 
ongoing supply chain monitoring and assurance.  Supply Chain Insights provides a clear 
picture of your suppliers’ activities across the sector, allowing you to understand risks, 
capacity and track-record.  We think it’s an indispensable resource in today’s supplier 
market." 

The tool enables you to immediately:
• access over 96 million transactions that are continually added to
• segment invoices by:
• –– organisation and category
• –– service provider
• –– date at a monthly level
• benchmark your spend against your peers
• identify:
• –– organisations buying similar services
• –– differences in pricing
• –– the leading supplier
• see how important each buyer is to a supplier
• benchmark public sector organisations’ spend on a consistent basis
• see how much public sector organisations spend with different suppliers
Supply Chain Insights forms part of the Grant Thornton Public Sector Insight Studio portfolio 
of analytics platforms.
Click on Supply Chain Insights for more information.

14

Grant Thornton
Challenge question: 
Has your Authority considered how our Supply Chain Insight tool can 
help support your supply chain assurance?

P
age 46



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only. Audit Progress Report and Sector Update | February 2018

Grant Thornton website links
https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/industries/publicsector
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/through-a-local-lens-solace-summit-2017/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/combined-authorities-signs-of-success/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/a-guide-to-setting-up-a-social-enterprise/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/commercial-healthcheck-in-local-authorities/
http://www.cfoinsights.co.uk/
http://supplychaininsights.grantthornton.co.uk/

PSAA website links
https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/reports-on-the-results-of-auditors-work/

MHCLG website links
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposed-changes-to-the-prudential-framework-of-capital-finance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/capital-finance-guidance-on-local-government-investments-second-edition
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/capital-finance-guidance-on-minimum-revenue-provision-third-edition

CIPFA website link
http://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/t/the-prudential-code-for-capital-finance-in-local-authorities-2017-edition-book

National Audit Office link
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/the-adult-social-care-workforce-in-england/

15

Links

P
age 47



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Confidential and information only.
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 
as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 
member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 
obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 
and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 
for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 48



Page 1 of 3

     
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 16th March 2018 

Report title Informing the Audit Risk Assessment

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, OBE
Chief Executive of the WMCA
Email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7552 

Accountable 
Employee

Sean Pearce
WMCA Director of Finance
Email: sean.pearce@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7936

Report to be/has been 
considered by

None 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Review and note the contents of the report, and consider whether the responses are 
consistent with its understanding and whether there are any further comments it wishes to 
make.

Page 49

Agenda Item 10



 [PUBLIC]

Page 2 of 3

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to contribute towards the effective two-way communication 
between auditors and the Authority's Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee, as 'those charged 
with governance'. The report covers some important areas of the auditor risk assessment 
where we are required to make inquiries of the Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee under 
auditing standards.

1.2 As part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to obtain an understanding of 
management processes and the Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee’s oversight of the 
following areas:

 Fraud
 Laws and regulations
 Going concern
 Related party transactions
 Accounting estimates

1.3 This report includes a series of questions on each of these areas and the response we have 
received from the Combined Authority’s management. 

2.0 Background

2.1 The statutory responsibilities of the external audit function are:

 To be satisfied that the accounts comply with the requirements of the enactments 
that apply to them

 To be satisfied that proper practices have been observed in the preparation of the 
statement of accounts and that the statement presents a true and fair view

 To be satisfied that the audited body has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

3.0 Wider WMCA Implications

3.1 None

4.0 Progress, options, discussion, etc.

4.1 N/A

5.0 Financial implications

5.1 The financial implications are included within the body of the report.

6.0 Legal implications

6.1 There are no direct legal implications.

7.0 Equalities implications

7.1 There are no implications.

Page 50



 [PUBLIC]

Page 3 of 3

7.0 Other implications

7.1 None.

8.0 Schedule of background papers

8.1 N/A

9.0 Appendices 

ARAC - WMCA Informing the audit risk assessment.

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Informing the audit risk assessment for the West Midlands Combined Authority
Year Ended 31 March 2018

P
age 53



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018

Contents

2

Section Page
Purpose 03

Fraud 04

Fraud risk assessment 05

Laws and regulations 08

Impact of laws and regulations 09

Going Concern 11

Related Parties 14

Accounting estimates 16

Accounting estimates considerations 17

Appendix A – Accounting Estimates 18

P
age 54



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018

The purpose of this report is to contribute towards the effective two-way communication between those charged with governance for the 
Combined Authority, and Grant Thornton as your external auditor. The report covers some important areas of the auditor risk assessment 
where we are required to make inquiries of the Combined Authority under auditing standards.
Background Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (ISA(UK&I)) auditors have specific responsibilities to communicate 
with the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee. ISA(UK&I) emphasise the importance of two-way communication between the auditor and the 
Combined Authority and also specify matters that should be communicated.
This two-way communication assists both the auditor and the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee in understanding matters relating to the 
audit and developing a constructive working relationship. It also enables the auditor to obtain information relevant to the audit from the 
Combined Authority and supports the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee in fulfilling its responsibilities in relation to the financial reporting 
process. 
Communication as part of our risk assessment procedures we are required to obtain an understanding of the Combined Authority management 
processes and the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee's oversight of the following areas: 
• fraud 
• laws and regulations 
• going concern 
• related parties 
• accounting estimates.
This report includes a series of questions on each of these areas and the response we have received from the Combined Authority’s 
management. These responses have been reviewed and agreed by the relevant heads of departments. The Committee should consider
whether these responses are consistent with its understanding and whether there are any further comments it wishes to make.

Purpose

3

P
age 55



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018

Matters in relation to fraud
ISA(UK&I)240 covers auditors responsibilities relating to fraud in an audit of financial statements.
The primary responsibility to prevent and detect fraud rests with both the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee and the Combined Authority 
management. Management, with the oversight of the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee, needs to ensure a strong emphasis on fraud 
prevention and deterrence and encourage a culture of honest and ethical behaviour. As part of its oversight, the Audit, Risk and Assurance 
Committee should consider the potential for override of controls and inappropriate influence over the financial reporting process.
As the Combined Authority's external auditors, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement due to fraud or error. We are required to maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit, considering the 
potential for management override of controls.
As part of our audit risk assessment procedures we are required to consider risks of fraud. This includes considering the arrangements 
management has put in place with regard to fraud risks including: 
• assessment that the financial statements could be materially misstated due to fraud 
• process for identifying and responding to risks of fraud, including any identified specific risks 
• communication with the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee regarding its processes for identifying and responding to risks of fraud 
• communication to employees regarding business practices and ethical behaviour
We need to understand how the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee oversees the above processes. We are also required to make inquiries 
of both the Combined Authority management and the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee as to their knowledge of any actual, suspected or 
alleged fraud. These areas have been set out in the fraud risk assessment questions below together with responses from the Combined 
Authority’s management.

Fraud

4

P
age 56



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 5

Question Management response
Has the Combined Authority assessed the risk of material 
misstatement in the financial statements due to fraud or error?
Is this consistent with the feedback from your risk management 
processes?

Considered to be low risk.

Yes, and consistent with findings in the Internal Audit of Key 
Processes. Of five key financial systems audits undertaken, four 
received substantial assurance and one satisfactory.

Are you aware of any instances of fraud, either within the 
Combined Authority as a whole or within specific departments 
since 01 April 2017?
If so how does the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee respond 
to these?

No.

If a potential fraud were to be reported, there is a known process in 
place to contact the Corporate Assurance Manager who would then 
commission Wolverhampton Audit Services to conduct an investigation. 
Wolverhampton Audit Team now supply our Internal Audit services by 
contract.

Do you suspect fraud may be occurring, either within the 
Combined Authority or within specific departments?
• Have you identified any specific fraud risks? 
• Do you have any concerns there are areas that are at risk of 

fraud?
Are there particular locations within the Combined Authority where 
fraud is more likely to  occur?

No.
No.
No.

No.

Fraud risk assessment

P
age 57



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 6

Question Management response
Are you satisfied that the overall control environment is robust, 
including: 
• the process for reviewing the system of internal control;  
• internal controls, including segregation of duties; exist and work 

effectively?
If not where are the risk areas?
What other controls are in place to help prevent, deter or detect 
fraud?
Are there any areas where there is a potential for override of 
controls or inappropriate influence over the financial reporting 
process (for example because of undue pressure to achieve 
financial targets)?

Yes. Wolverhampton Internal Audit regularly review the key systems 
and processes and their recommendations and observations have 
been acted upon.

N/A.
Monthly financial reporting including account reconciliation which is a 
robust process. 

No.

How do you encourage, and communicate  to, employees about 
your views on business practices and ethical behaviour?
How do you encourage staff to report their concerns about fraud? 
What concerns are staff expected to report about fraud?

Policies and procedures are published on the Intranet covering theft 
and fraud and the process staff should follow if they suspect anything. 
These procedures also state the escalation procedure if required. 
As part of all new staff and member inductions they are given an 
overview of business practices and ethical behaviours and their roles in 
identifying or responding to fraud. 
Regular Director briefing sessions are held where staff can raise any 
concerns and business practice and ethical behaviour can be 
reinforced.

Fraud risk assessment (continued)

P
age 58



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 7

Question Management response
From a fraud and corruption perspective, what are considered to 
be high-risk posts?
How are the risks relating to these posts identified, assessed and 
managed?

Treasury team.

Treasury Management Group and clear segregation of duties and 
segregated approval limits.

Are you aware of any related party relationships or transactions 
that could give rise to instances of fraud?
How do you mitigate the risks associated with fraud related to 
related party relationships and transactions?

No.

Robust procurement procedures.

What arrangements are in place to report fraud issues to Audit, 
Risk and Assurance Committee?
How does the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee exercise 
oversight over management's processes for identifying and 
responding to risks of fraud and breaches of internal control? 

Policies and Procedures are published on the Intranet covering theft 
and fraud and the process staff should follow if they suspect anything. 
These procedures also state the escalation procedure if required.
The Internal Audit function is now delivered by Wolverhampton Internal 
Audit Services and presents audit reports to each Audit, Risk and 
Assurance Committee. The Client Manager from Wolverhampton has 
access to both the Chief Audit Executive and the Chair and Vice Chair 
of the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee

Are you aware of any whistle-blower reports under the Bribery Act 
since 01 April 2017?  If so how does the Audit, Risk and 
Assurance Committee respond to these?

No.

Fraud risk assessment (continued)

P
age 59



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018

Matters in relation to laws and regulations

ISA(UK&I)250 requires us to consider the impact  of laws and regulations in an audit of the financial statements.

Management, with the oversight of the Combined Authority, is responsible for ensuring that the Combined Authority’s 
operations are conducted in accordance with laws and regulations including those that determine amounts in the financial 
statements. 

As auditor, we are responsible for obtaining reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement due to fraud or error, taking into account the appropriate legal and regulatory framework. As part of our risk 
assessment procedures we are required to make inquiries of management and the Combined Authority as to whether the 
entity is in compliance with laws and regulations. Where we become aware of information of non-compliance or suspected 
non-compliance we need to gain an understanding of the non-compliance and the possible effect on the financial statements.

Risk assessment questions have been set out below together with responses from management.

Laws and regulations

8

P
age 60



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 9

Question Management response
How does management gain assurance that all relevant laws and 
regulations have been complied with?
What arrangements does the Combined Authority have in place to 
prevent and detect non-compliance with laws and regulations?

Responsibility for ensuring compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations lies with the Head of Governance who advises the 
Combined Authority.
The constitution and governance arrangements within the Combined 
Authority have been reviewed and confirmed that they are appropriate 
and robust. All governance arrangements are currently monitored to 
ensure that they comply with relevant legislation and are fit for 
purpose.
Individual experts also take responsibility within their own areas of 
expertise and where relevant appoint external advisors.

How is the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee provided with 
assurance that all relevant laws and regulations have been 
complied with?

The Chief Audit Executive is the Head of Governance and a qualified 
solicitor, as well as the Monitoring Officer. It is the duty of care of all 
these roles to ensure laws and regulations have been adhered to. The 
West Midlands Combined Authority legal team report to the Head of 
Governance and are also the custodians of the West Midlands 
Combined Authority Constitution. The Chief Audit Executive would flag 
to the committee if any breaches to the constitution had been made. 
Where the Chief Audit Executive is not present at an Audit, Risk and 
Assurance Committee meeting, it is advised that a legal representative 
is present at the committee.

Have there been any instances of non-compliance with law and 
regulation since 01 April 2017 with on-going impact on the 
2017/18 financial statements?

None.

Impact of laws and regulations

P
age 61



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 10

Question Management response
Is there any actual or potential litigation or claims that would affect 
the 2017/18 financial statements?

Cover is in place through Municipal Mutual Insurance – currently 
administered via Zurich on behalf of Municipal Mutual – with an excess 
of £25k.
Finance are kept up to date with any claims and potential claims. 
Whilst the West Midlands Combined Authority have a number of 
potential claims at investigation stage, there are no significant litigation 
claims at this time.

What arrangements does the Combined Authority have in place to 
identify, evaluate and account for litigation or claims?

All claims are controlled by the legal team, in conjunction with our 
insurers. Where appropriate these are taken to the Board for approval.

Have there been any reports from other regulatory bodies, such 
as HM Revenues and Customs which indicate non-compliance?

No.

Impact of laws and regulations (continued)

P
age 62



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018

Matters in relation to going concern
ISA(UK&I)570 covers auditor responsibilities in the audit of financial statements relating to management's use of the going 
concern assumption in the financial statements.

The going concern assumption is a fundamental principle in the preparation of financial statements. Under this assumption 
entities are viewed as continuing in business for the foreseeable future. Assets and liabilities are recorded on the basis that the 
entity will be able to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Going concern considerations have been set out below and management has provided its response.

Going Concern

11

P
age 63



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 12

Question Management response
Has a report been received from management forming a view on 
going concern?

A detailed Business Plan for the Combined Authority is approved each 
year. Monthly management reporting is produced for the Combined 
Authority indicating positive trading performance of the business, which 
is reported monthly to the WMCA Leadership Team and bi-monthly to 
the Transport Delivery Committee, Programme Board, WMCA Finance 
Directors’ Workstream and WMCA Main Board

Are the financial assumptions in that report (e.g., future levels of 
income and expenditure) consistent with the Combined Authority 
Business Plan and the financial information provided to the 
Combined Authority throughout the year?

N/A

Are the implications of statutory or policy changes appropriately 
reflected in the Business Plan, financial forecasts and report on 
going concern?

Yes

Have there been any significant issues raised with the Audit, Risk 
and Assurance Committee during the year which could cast 
doubts on the assumptions made? (Examples include adverse 
comments raised by internal and external audit regarding financial 
performance or significant weaknesses in systems of financial 
control).

No

Going concern considerations

P
age 64



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 13

Question Management response
Does a review of available financial information identify any 
adverse financial indicators including negative cash flow or poor 
or deteriorating performance against the better payment practice 
code? 
If so, what action is being taken to improve financial 
performance?

No.

Does the Combined Authority have sufficient staff in post, with the 
appropriate skills and experience, particularly at senior manager 
level, to ensure the delivery of the Combined Authority’s 
objectives? 
If not, what action is being taken to obtain those skills?

A review of capability and vacancy risk is being developed and will be 
presented to the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee in March 2018.

Does the Combined Authority have procedures in place to assess 
the Combined Authority ability to continue as a going concern?

Yes– continued medium term financial planning

Is management aware of the existence of events or conditions 
that may cast doubt on the Combined Authority ability to continue 
as a going concern?

No.

Are arrangements in place to report the going concern 
assessment to the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee?

Yes. Financial monitoring takes place on a monthly basis to the WMCA 
Leadership Team and bi-monthly to the WMCA Board. In addition the 
Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee will receive a financial update at 
each of their meetings.

Going concern considerations (continued)

P
age 65



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018

Matters in relation to Related Parties
Local Government bodies  are required to comply with IAS 24 and disclose transactions with entities/individuals that would be
classed as related parties.  These may include: 
■ entities that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by the Combined Authority(i.e. 
subsidiaries); 
■ associates; 
■ joint ventures; 
■ an entity that has an interest in the Combined Authority that gives it significant influence over the Combined Authority; 
■ key management personnel, and close members of the family of key management personnel, and 
■ post-employment benefit plans (pension fund) for the benefit of employees of the Combined Authority, or of any entity that is 
a related party of the Combined Authority. 
A disclosure is required if a transaction (or series of transactions) is material on either side, i.e. if a transaction is immaterial 
from the Combined Authority’s perspective but material from a related party viewpoint then the Combined Authority must 
disclose it. 
ISA (UK&I) 550 requires us to review your procedures for identifying related party transactions and obtain an understanding of 
the controls that you have established to identify such transactions. We will also carry out testing to ensure the related party
transaction disclosures you make in the financial statements are complete and accurate. 

Related Parties

14

P
age 66



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 15

Question Management response
Who have the Combined Authority identified as related parties? Currently reviewing related parties for the 2017/18 statutory accounts.

What are the controls in place to identify, account for, and 
disclose, related party transactions and  relationships?

Key officers complete a disclosure form detailing their interests. These 
are reviewed annually. 
Robust procurement procedures are in place to provide assurance that 
all expenditure is carried out on a commercial basis.

Related Parties considerations

P
age 67



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018

Matters in relation to accounting estimates

Local government bodies apply appropriate estimates in the preparation of their financial statements. ISA (UK&I) 540 sets out
requirements for auditing accounting estimates. The objective is to gain evidence that the accounting estimates are reasonable 
and the related disclosures are adequate.

Under this standard we have to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement for accounting estimates by 
understanding how the Combined Authority identifies the transactions, events and conditions that may give rise to the need for 
an accounting estimate.

Accounting estimates are used when it is not possible to measure precisely a figure in the accounts. We need to be aware of 
all estimates that the Combined Authority is using as part of its accounts preparation; these are detailed in Appendix A to this
report. The audit procedures we conduct on the accounting estimate will demonstrate that: 
•  the estimate is reasonable; and 
•  estimates have been calculated consistently with other accounting estimates within the financial statements.

We would ask the Combined Authority to satisfy itself that the arrangements for accounting estimates are adequate. 

Accounting estimates

16

P
age 68



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 17

Question Management response
Are management aware of transactions, events and conditions (or 
changes in these) that may give rise to recognition or disclosure 
of significant accounting estimates that require significant 
judgement?

No significant judgements expected over and above those already 
outlined at Appendix A.

Are the management arrangements for the accounting estimates, 
as detailed in Appendix A, reasonable?

Yes.

How is the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee provided with 
assurance that the arrangements for accounting estimates are 
adequate?

These are explained as appropriate as part of the financial monitoring 
to the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee, Transport Delivery 
Committee, WMCA Leadership Team and WMCA Main Board by the 
Director of Finance.

Accounting estimates considerations

P
age 69



Appendix A – Accounting Estimates

P
age 70



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 19

Estimate Method / model used to 
make the estimate

Controls used to 
identify estimates

Whether 
Management 
have used an 
expert

Underlying assumptions: -
Assessment of degree of 
uncertainty - Consideration 
of alternative estimates

Has there been a 
change in 
accounting 
method in year?

Property plant 
& equipment 
valuations

Fair value for land/buildings 
defined as ‘existing use’ by 
The Code.

Valuations are 
performed frequently 
to ensure that the fair 
value of a revalued 
asset does not differ 
materially from its 
carrying amount. For 
land and buildings all 
material assets were 
revalued in 2013/14.

Bruton Knowles Degree of uncertainty inherent 
with any revaluation.  We 
employ professional valuers and 
rely on expert opinion.

No

Estimated 
remaining 
useful lives of 
PPE

Each part of an item of 
property, plant and equipment 
with a cost that is significant 
in relation to the total cost is 
depreciated separately.  
Depreciation methods, useful 
lives and residual values are 
reviewed each financial year 
and adjusted if appropriate.

See left box Discussion with 
internal asset 
team and where 
applicable 
Bruton Knowles 
as valuer.

Depreciation is calculated on a 
straight line basis as this reflects 
consumption of assets and is a 
reasonable assumption.

No

Depreciation & 
Amortisation

See above See above See above See above No

Appendix A - Accounting estimates

P
age 71



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 20

Estimate Method / model used to 
make the estimate

Controls used to 
identify estimates

Whether 
Management 
have used an 
expert

Underlying assumptions: -
Assessment of degree of 
uncertainty - Consideration 
of alternative estimates

Has there been a 
change in 
accounting 
method in year?

Pension Fund  
(LGPS) 
Actuarial 
gains/losses

The actuarial gains and 
losses figures are calculated 
by the actuarial expert  
Barnett Waddingham. These 
figures are based on making 
% adjustments to the closing 
values of assets/liabilities.  

The Combined 
Authority responds to 
queries raised by the 
administering body, 
Wolverhampton 
Council.

The Combined 
Authority are 
provided with 
an actuarial 
report by 
Barnett 
Waddingham
(LGPS).

The nature of these figures 
forecasting into the future are 
based upon the best information 
held at the current time and are 
developed by experts in their 
field.

No.

Impairments Review of all assets 
undertaken annually in line 
with the code.

See left. Discussion with 
internal asset 
team as 
appropriate.

N/A. No.

Non adjusting 
events -events 
after the BS 
date

Monthly management 
accounts prepared would flag 
any adjusting/non-adjusting 
events.

See left. N/A. N/A. No.

Accruals We use standard accruals 
accounting –accruals are 
based on expenses incurred 
that have not yet been paid.

Monthly management 
accounts provides 
rigorous analysis so 
that any accruals are 
highlighted and 
actioned throughout 
the year

N/A. N/A. No.

Appendix A - Accounting estimates (continued)

P
age 72



© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. Informing the audit risk assessment | March 2018 21

Estimate Method / model used to 
make the estimate

Controls used to 
identify estimates

Whether 
Management 
have used an 
expert

Underlying assumptions: -
Assessment of degree of 
uncertainty - Consideration 
of alternative estimates

Has there been a 
change in 
accounting 
method in year?

Measurement 
of Financial 
Instruments

Financial instruments consist 
of finance leases and bank 
overdraft.  Measured initially 
at cost and subsequently at 
amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

N/A Tram lease 
calculations use 
RBS 
information in 
order to 
calculate the 
yearly refund.

N/A No.

Bad Debt 
Provision

Debts are reviewed monthly 
and any debts that are 
deemed to be irrecoverable 
are written off to the CIES.

Knowledge by the 
Trade Receivables 
team in likelihood of 
recoverability and the 
aging of the debts. 
Head of Finance signs 
off the write off.

N/A N/A No.

Provisions for 
liabilities

Provisions are identified 
through detailed monthly 
management accounts which 
flags any potential issues to 
management.

Each provision is 
separately reviewed 
by financial accounts 
and a working is put 
together to support the 
calculation.

As necessary 
on an individual 
basis

Each provision is assessed on 
an individual basis to ensure that 
it meets the criteria of a 
provision per IAS 37.  The 
degree of uncertainty is 
assessed when determining 
whether a provision is the 
correct treatment for an item.

No.

Appendix A - Accounting estimates (continued)

P
age 73



grantthornton.co.uk

© 2018 Grant Thornton UK LLP. 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, 
as the context requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL).GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each 
member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not 
obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. This proposal is made by Grant Thornton UK LLP and is in all respects subject to the negotiation, agreement 
and signing of a specific contract/letter of engagement. The client names quoted within this proposal are disclosed on a confidential basis. All information in this proposal is released strictly 
for the purpose of this process and must not be disclosed to any other parties without express consent from Grant Thornton UK LLP. 

P
age 74



[PUBLIC]

     
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 16th March 2018 

Report title West Midlands Combined Authority Annual 
Governance Statement

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, OBE
Chief Executive
Email Deborah.Cadman@wmca.org.uk 
Tel 0121 214 7200

Accountable 
Employee

Sean Pearce
Director of Finance
Email Sean.Pearce@wmca.org.uk 
Tel 0121 214 7936

Report to be/has been 
considered by

None 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Approve the draft Annual Governance Statement prior to its inclusion within the financial 
statements for 2017/ 2018.

Page 75

Agenda Item 11



1.0 Purpose

1.1 This report provides members with a draft of the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) for 
their consideration and to approve sections 3.0 to 9.0. 

2.0 Background

2.1 The Annual Governance Statement is a statutory document which explains the processes 
and procedures in place to enable the Combined Authority to carry out its functions 
effectively. This AGS is brought as a draft document at this stage for two reasons. The 
financial and audit year has not yet been completed and so it is always possible that 
another issue might arise that requires comment or inclusion. Secondly, approval for the 
final AGS will be sought as part of the process of approving the annual accounts of the 
Combined Authority in June.

2.2 The Combined Authority has been through a sustained period of change and development 
since the last AGS was approved. In early 2017 the Authority was managed mainly by 
interim or seconded staff from Constituent Authorities including interim Chief Executive, 
Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer.  The last AGS was also approved before the 
election of the Mayor Andy Street in May 2017.

2.3 Since May 2017 the Mayor has begun to shape the priorities of the Combined Authority and 
a second Devolution Deal was negotiated with Central Government in November 2017. An 
almost entirely new Leadership Team has been appointed including the new Chief 
Executive, Deborah Cadman and a team of Directors leading particular priority areas. Work 
has continued to strengthen and improve governance arrangements, Board Reporting, 
Forward Planning and the work of ARAC and Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

2.4 There is however much remaining to be done before the Combined Authority becomes a 
mature organisation with settled teams and fully embedded governance arrangements. The 
2018/19 budget setting process for instance provided a number of learning points for 
improvement which the Combined Authority has committed to implement for the future. The 
AGS should be seen in this context as relating to an organisation which is in some respects 
still in formation and which may look different again in 2019/20.

3.0 Scope

3.1 This Annual Governance Statement reflects the activities of West Midlands Combined 
Authority (WMCA) from 1st April 2017 to 31st March 2018. 

3.2 The WMCA is made up of seven district councils, constituent and non-constituent members, 
three Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs), observers and a co-opted member.

3.3 The WMCA Constituent Council consists of the seven district councils across the region. 
They are:
 

 Birmingham City Council 
 City of Wolverhampton Council 
 Coventry City Council 
 Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council 
 Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council 
 Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 
 Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council 

Page 76



3.4 The Non-Constituent member of the WMCA are comprised of non-constituent authorities 
and LEP members.

Non-constituent authorities

 Cannock Chase District Council
 North Warwickshire Borough Council
 Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council
 Redditch Borough Council
 Rugby Borough Council
 Shropshire Council
 Stratford-on-Avon District Council
 Tamworth Borough Council
 Telford and Wrekin Council
 Warwickshire County Council

LEP members

 Black Country LEP       
 Coventry and Warwickshire LEP
 Greater Birmingham and Solihull LEP

3.5 There are also four Observers of the WMCA. These are: 

 Herefordshire Council
 The Marches LEP
 West Midlands Fire and Rescue Authority
 West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner

3.6 There is one member co-opted on to the WMCA board at the discretion of the WMCA 
board. They are: 

 Trade Union Congress (TUC)

3.7 WMCA is an enabling body which brings together the political leadership in the region; 
reinforcing and strengthening existing partnership arrangements to help co-ordinate 
strategic economic planning and drive forward inclusive economic growth.

4.0 Purpose of Corporate Governance

4.1 The West Midlands Combined Authority is responsible for ensuring that business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards; that public money is 
safeguarded and properly accounted for and delivers value for money.

4.2 The WMCA Governance Framework forms part of the Constitution and details the Boards 
and Committees which provide oversight and assurance. 

4.3 To demonstrate good corporate governance, WMCA carries out its functions in a way that 
provides accountability, transparency, effectiveness, integrity, and inclusivity; enabling 
WMCA to pursue its vision and secure its agreed objectives in the most effective and 
efficient manner.

Page 77



4.4 In discharging this overall responsibility, WMCA Leadership Team and Statutory Officers 
are responsible for putting in place proper arrangements (known as a Governance 
Framework) which comprises the legislative requirements, systems and processes, cultures 
and values. This enables WMCA to govern its affairs, facilitate the effective exercise of its 
functions, which includes arrangements for the management of risk, in addition to 
exercising leadership and being held accountable for its decisions and activities.

4.5 The WMCA has put in place a system of internal control designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve, aims and objectives and 
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.

4.6 The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of our policies, aims and objectives; and evaluate the 
likelihood of those risks being realised, the impact should they be realised, and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically.

4.7 WMCA has developed a Risk Management Strategy and strategic risk register, which is 
reported to regular meetings of the Authority’s Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee and 
WMCA Leadership Team. It provides visibility of risk at operational, program and strategic 
levels.

5.0 Annual Governance Statement 

5.1 This Annual Governance Statement meets the requirements of Regulation 3 of the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 which requires all relevant public bodies to 
prepare an annual governance statement. 

5.2 The West Midlands Combined Authority demonstrates compliance with the seven core 
principles of good governance set out in the latest CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government Framework (2016).

These seven principles are: 

(a) Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, 
and respecting the rule of law.

(b) Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.
(c) Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 

environmental benefits.
(d) Determining the interventions necessary to optimize the achievement of the 

intended outcomes.
(e) Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and 

the individuals within it.
(f) Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 

public financial management.
(g) Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit, to deliver 

effective accountability.

6.0 Governance Framework

1. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, 
and respecting the rule of law.

1.1 The code of conduct is laid out in the Constitution; this defines standards of 
behaviour for Members and officers working on behalf of the Authority. The Head of 
Organisation Development deals with issues of conduct and generally promote high Page 78



standards among officers members. The Monitoring Officer deals with any issues 
relating to the Mayor and elected Members.

1.2 WMCA embeds standards of conduct and behaviour through promoting a culture 
with values: 

Be collaborative 
 We work with others to reach common goals 
 We are respectful and act with integrity 
 We communicate clearly, openly and encourage feedback 

Be innovative  
 We encourage creativity, originality and curiosity from everyone 
 We embrace change, are open to new possibilities and exploring new ideas 
 We adopt best practices and keep up to date with new developments to enhance 

our work

Be driven
 We have a positive, proactive and a solution oriented attitude
 We are performance driven and deliver to a high standard
 We deliver on expectations and raise the game through clear goals
 We take ownership for our performance and outcomes

Be inclusive
 We care about and treat each other with dignity and respect 
 We create a positive working environment to work in
 We value diversity and consider other people’s viewpoints

1.3 The business of WMCA will also be conducted in accordance with the Seven 
Principles of Public Life identified in The Nolan Committee Report (1995), and 
defined as selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and 
leadership.

2. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.

2.1 We have established channels of communication with the community and other 
stakeholders, ensuring accountability and encouraging open consultation. Meetings 
are held in public unless there are good reasons for confidentiality.

2.2 We incorporate good governance arrangements in our partnerships and reflect these 
in our overall governance arrangements.

2.3 We assess the effectiveness of relationship frameworks in order to identify any 
changes required.

2.4 Our inclusivity work ensures we encourage engagement from all members of society

3. Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social, and 
environmental benefits

3.1 The WMCA is working to achieve the priorities set out in the Devolution Deals that 
have been negotiated with Central Government. WMCA’s purpose and vision are 
detailed in the Strategic Economic plan (SEP) and the Mayor’s Renewal Plan. 

Page 79



3.2 WMCA ensure the vision and the implications for governance arrangements are 
reviewed through the budget and performance management framework.

3.3 We ensure the purpose and vision of WMCA is clear and well communicated.

3.4 WMCA is focused on delivering value for money and success in this respect is 
reviewed by independent auditors in line with the NAO's auditor's guidance note 
(AGN03). The results of our Value for Money audit work and the key messages 
arising will be reported in an Audit Findings Report and in the Annual Audit Letter.

3.5 An annual report communicates WMCA activities and achievements titled The 
Annual Business Plan.

4. Determining the interventions necessary to optimize the achievement of the 
intended outcomes.

4.1 The WMCA’s work is within the context of the Devolution of powers from Central 
Government. The Authority works closely with the relevant Government 
Departments, local and national stakeholders and constituent and non-constituent 
authorities to determine the necessary actions to achieve these priorities. 

4.2 Decisions required are identified by the Leadership Team and taken through the 
necessary decision-making levels with all principle decisions being taken by WMCA 
Board. Performance reports and action plans are agreed by Board. 

5. Developing the entity’s capacity, including the capability of its leadership and 
the individuals within it.

5.1 We identify and aim to address the development needs of members and officers in 
relation to their roles and support with appropriate induction and training.

5.2 ARAC members have received finance training to allow them to understand financial 
accounts and reporting. WMCA Finance Team provided training to ARAC on 
pensions accounting and disclosures at its meeting on 19 January 2018.  We will 
provide further training on the West Midlands Combined Authority’s overall 
accounting arrangements and financial statements on 16 March 2018. Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Chairs and leading Members have participated in external 
training and events.  

5.3 We have defined and documented in our Constitution the roles and responsibilities of 
the Board, Scrutiny and officer functions, with clear delegation arrangements and 
protocols for effective communication.

5.4 The collective and individual roles and responsibilities of the Leadership Team, 
Members and officers have been agreed by WMCA Board.

5.5 A scheme of delegation is laid out in the Constitution

6. Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong 
public financial management.

Page 80



6.1 WMCA ensures compliance with relevant laws and regulations, internal policies and 
Procedures.

6.2 WMCA is rigorous and transparent about decision making and the recording of 
decisions. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee reviews and challenges the work 
and decisions of WMCA amidst with policy review and development.

6.3 The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee (ARAC) is independent of the executive 
and scrutiny function. They monitor and review risk and governance processes, and 
results, in order to provide assurance to WMCA board on their effectiveness.

6.4 A robust assurance framework consistently ensures governance and process are 
independently reviewed and reported and the risks have been identified and are 
being adequately managed. Internal Audit provides the ‘third line of defence’ with the 
first line being policies, procedures and controls and the second being managers’ 
own checks of the control environment. Professional advice and good quality 
information is provided to ensure those making decisions are provided with relevant 
information that is fit for purpose.

6.5 Risk management is embedded in the culture; accountabilities and responsibilities 
defined within roles, and with processes determining ways of working, managing and 
reporting risk.

6.6 Arrangements are in place for “whistleblowing” and “counter-fraud” for receiving and 
investigating complaints from both officers and members of public.

7. Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting, and audit, to deliver 
effective accountability

7.1 The WMCA has implemented the WMCA Assurance Framework which was 
approved by DCLG in July 2016. 

7.2 The WMCA is working closely with Department for Business, Energy and Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS) who will review the performance of the Devolution objectives and 
adherence to the Assurance Framework. 

7.3 Currently being developed are new devolved funding schemes, for example Adult 
Education Budget and Housing, which will require their own Assurance Framework 
and signed off by the appropriate government department. 

7.4 A checklist has been implemented for the Arm’s Length Companies of the WMCA to 
ascertain confidence in governance and assurance arrangements. This action came 
out of the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee, to develop a checklist of questions 
that would provide a mechanism of assurance to the Committee that could provide 
overall assurance on all of WMCA’s activities. 

7.0 Action Plan for the Significant Governance Issues

7.1 Table in Appendix 1 shows matters that have been identified as being significant for the 
purpose of the 2017/18 annual governance statement. These issues will need addressing in 
2018/19 and over the coming year appropriate actions to address these matters and further 
enhance governance arrangements will be taken.

Page 81



8.0 Annual Review of Effectiveness of Governance Framework

The Opinion of the Head of Governance 2017/2018

8.1 The Head of Governance is satisfied that the system of internal assurance is robust and 
providing visibility of risk and reasonable assurance to the senior management teams.

8.2 The opinion is based on the results of an on-going programme of activities and review, the 
outcomes of which were considered by the Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee. Activities 
include: 

 External audit
 Internal audit
 The Risk Management Process, particularly the Strategic Risk Register
 Performance information
 Assurance 

8.3 During the period 2017/ 2018, the Treasury Management audit and four out of five ‘key 
financial systems’ audits were given ‘Substantial’ rating by internal audit and the Investment 
Programme - Governance Arrangements for Project Appraisal and Approval audit a 
satisfactory level of assurance. Overall, all finalised audits undertaken had been rated 
Substantial or Satisfactory except for two, demonstrating that the systems and processes 
around audit, risk and governance are effective. A limited rating was given in two areas 
however Internal Audit have stated that this was not fundamental to their overall opinion of 
reasonable assurance, an opinion that the Head of Governance agrees with.

8.4 As an integral part of agreeing devolution of powers to WMCA, the Assurance Framework 
was agreed by the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee in March 2016 and approved by 
DCLG in July 2016 and has since been implemented. The framework reviews internal 
delivery and the work of WMCA delivery partners, to ensure work delivered adheres to 
policy and legislative requirements and management processes identify risks to delivery. 

8.5 A total of 27 project assurance reviews have been undertaken by the Corporate Assurance 
Team in this period, covering 19 different projects. These projects follow the WMCA 
Gateway Project Methodology for minor projects. 

8.6 Programme Assurance arrangements for major projects within the Investment Programme 
have continued to be undertaken in accordance to the approved WMCA Assurance 
Framework and project investment process. Technical Appraisal Panel provide initial 
assurance on submission of business cases for funding for Investment Programme funding. 
Covering the period October 2017 – March 2018, 11 business cases have been reviewed 
by Technical Appraisal Panel (TAP).

8.7 Progress of the 2017/18 annual business plan is monitored monthly by internal 
Management Boards with key risks impacting on its delivery, being escalated to the 
corporate risk register. 

8.8 Regular risk management review meetings are now in place across all WMCA activities 
including Commissions to enable full visibility of key risks having the potential to impact on 
the organisation. 

8.9 There are a total of 11 operational Risk Registers feeding into the WMCA Strategic Risk 
Register with regular meetings in place with the management team of each business area 
to monitor the status of risks and to ascertain the level of risk exposure in each of these Page 82



areas to determine the assurance conclusions. 

8.10 The successes of the WMCA includes the successful appointment of the elected Mayor, 
Chief Executive Officer and Leadership Team. The WMCA is one of England’s Combined 
Authorities to successfully negotiate a further devolution deal. 

8.11 The WMCA has set itself a demanding programme of work and is ambitious for itself and 
the benefits that it hopes to bring to the region. It has been successful in negotiations for a 
second Devo Deal and has recruited an able team of experienced professionals to form the 
leadership team. However there is a significant pressure on resources, particularly in 
matching staff resources to the tasks in hand and this is being carefully monitored by the 
Authority and structures adjusted to reflect these pressures accordingly.  

9.0 Conclusion 

9.1 In undertaking the review of internal control and governance framework, WMCA is satisfied 
the systems of internal control that facilitate the effective exercise of the organisation’s 
functions are in place and that all issues raised through the Audit, Risk and Assurance 
Committee have been appropriately addressed and actions taken. 

10.0 Wider WMCA Implications

10.1 The framework will be subject to continued review to ensure it remains fit for purpose and 
takes into account the increasing remit of WMCA.

11.0 Financial implications

11.1 There are no direct costs or other financial implications involved with the production of 
these statements. 

12.0 Legal implications

12.1 This Annual Governance Statement meets the requirements of Regulation 3 of the 
Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2015 which requires all relevant public bodies to 
prepare an annual governance statement, demonstrating compliance with the seven core 
principles of good governance set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance 
in Local Government Framework (2016).

13.0 Equalities implications

13.1 There are no equalities implications as a direct consequence of this report.

14.0 Other implications 

14.1 None.

15.0 Schedule of background papers

15.1 None.

Page 83



16.0 Appendices 

Appendix 1: Action Plan for the Significant Governance Issues identified during 2017/18 
which will need addressing in 2018/19

Page 84



[PUBLIC]

Appendix 1

Action Plan for the Significant Governance Issues identified during 2017/18 which will need addressing in 2018/19.

2018-2019 - Key areas and actions for implementation Officer Responsible Target Date

Review of Constitution
In February 2018, the West Midlands Combined Authority Board approved the establishment of a task 
and finish review group to review the West Midlands Combined Authority’s Constitution following its first 
18 months of operation.  The group will be established in April 2018 with a view completing its review 
over the spring/summer period to ensure that its recommendations are put in place in time for the 
preparation of the West Midlands Combined Authority Medium Term Financial Plan for 2019/20 to 
2022/23.  Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee have asked to be kept appraised about the evolution in the 
Governance framework, as there is a recognition that now needs updating.

Head of Governance September 2018

Financial Sustainability
The West Midlands Combined Authority Board also approved the establishment of a task and finish 
review group to review arrangements for developing the West Midlands Combined Authority’s Medium 
Term Financial Plan to provide assurance around future financial sustainability. The intention is to 
develop jointly and through consensus a new plan for 2019/20 to 2022/23 to ensure Medium Term 
Financial Planning can continue to provide more certainty for the delivery of objectives within a financial 
framework that meets the needs of its Constituent Members. Again, the group will be established in April 
2018 with a view completing the review over the spring/summer period to ensure that its 
recommendations are put in place in time for the preparation of the 4 year West Midlands Combined 
Authority Medium Term Financial Plan for 2019/20 to 2022/23.

Head of Finance September 2018

Information Governance & Cyber Security
This will be kept under review during the year by both relevant Officers and Internal Audit. There is a 
significant amount of activity on going in these areas as the new WMCA Information Assurance 
Framework is rolled out during this period to strengthen and enhance the Authority’s responses in this 
area. Activity and progress is reported regularly to ARAC.

Head of ICT December 2018

Delivery of the Devolution Deals & Investment Programme
The West Midlands Combined Authority Board also approved the establishment of a task and finish 
review group to review governance and performance reporting for the Investment Programme including 
ranking and scheduling, of both funding and costs. The West Midlands Combined Authority is also 
working towards developing additional potential funding sources including extending existing borrowing 
powers and using new Mayoral powers to develop a supplementary business rates scheme.

Head of Finance September 2018

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



[PUBLIC]

     
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 16th March 2018 

Report title Outturn Report for Internal Audit 2017/18

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, OBE
Chief Executive
Email Deborah.Cadman@wmca.org.uk 
Tel 0121 214 7200

Accountable 
Employee

Sean Pearce
Director of Finance
Email Sean.Pearce@wmca.org.uk 
Tel 0121 214 7936

Report to be/has been 
considered by

None 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Note the contents of the report which provides the basis and assurance over the Annual 
Governance Statement for approval to be included in the annual accounts.

2. Note the current position on the implementation of audit recommendations provided in 
2017/2018 as set out in Appendix 2.

3. Note that no major risk exposure has been discovered since the last Outturn Report for 
2016/2017.

Page 87



1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the opinion of the Chief Audit Executive on the 
adequacy of WMCA control environment which is relevant in compiling the 2017/2018 
Annual Governance Statement. 

1.2 The report also informs the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee of the progress made in 
delivering the Internal Audit Plan for 2017/18.

2.0 Background

2.1 The WMCA Internal Audit plan for 2018/ 2019 is to be considered and agreed by the Audit, 
Risk and Assurance Committee in March 2018.

2.2 There was a significantly changing environment in 2017/18 with the election of the first 
Mayor, the appointment of a new leadership team, the first development of a focussed 
Strategic Risk Register and the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee’s request for a 
review of the Governance framework and responsibilities which is due for completion in 
2018/19. The WMCA is still undergoing many changes and the position will no doubt be 
different again at the end of the 2018/19.

2.3 The Assurance Framework and plan ensures that WMCA allocates public resources in 
accordance with the law and proper standards, and in an efficient and effective way that 
delivers both desired outcomes and value for money.

2.4 The CIPFA code ‘Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (CIPFA/Solace, 
2016)’ requires the Chief Audit Executive to provide an opinion on the control environment 
and give assurance that Internal Audit is carried out in line with CIPFA Public Sector Audit 
standards.

3.0 Opinion of the Control Environment

3.1 Appendix 1 sets out the control environment within which WMCA operates. This 
demonstrates three levels of assurance:

(a) Management Controls
(b) Corporate Assurance arrangements
(c) External validation

3.2 These areas of activity have been revised to reflect the scope of WMCA activities and they 
continue to be reviewed as the new organisation becomes established.

3.3 The framework of assurance needs to satisfy WMCA Board that the risks to delivery and 
the risks inherent in undertaking its work have been properly identified and are being 
managed by controls that are adequately designed and effective in operation.

3.4 Internal Corporate Assurance arrangements include:

(a) The appointment of Chief Audit Executive
(b) The provision of Internal Audit provided independently by Wolverhampton 

Audit Services
(c) The presentation of Audit Reports by Wolverhampton to each Audit Risk and 

Assurance Committee
(d) The development and delivery of an audit plan
(e) The issue of a formal audit report at the end of each audit

Page 88



(f) The follow up of audit recommendations and reporting of progress
(g) Maintenance and submission of the National Fraud survey
(h) Independent investigation of theft, fraud and unexplained financial losses in 

line with associated policies and procedures
(i) Facilitation of lessons learned on all projects
(j) Risk management arrangements across all areas of the business and 

reporting of corporate risks
(k) Monitoring of business objectives 

3.5 Improvements to controls and processes that have been highlighted through audit have 
been or will be implemented. 

3.6 A total of 8 internal audits were undertaken during the reporting period. A summary of the 
current position on each of the Audit recommendations made during the year are attached 
as Appendix 2.  

3.7 A number of issues were identified as part of these audits and recommendations have been 
provided and will be followed up by the respective management teams. The completion of 
all actions has been set for by or before August 2018, after which Internal Audit will further 
test these arrangements as part of their follow-on review activity that is undertaken for all 
audits findings.

3.8 Regular risk management review meetings are now in place across all WMCA activities 
including Commissions to enable full visibility of key risks having the potential to impact on 
the organisation.

3.9 A review of risk arrangements across all levels of the business is to be undertaken in order 
to validate current processes and to ensure a robust risk management function is 
maintained throughout the WMCA. 

4.0 2018/19 Audit Plan

4.1 Internal Audit is provided by Wolverhampton Audit Services and contractual arrangements 
are in place to manage the provision of this service going forward.

4.2 The Corporate Assurance Manager has been working closely with Wolverhampton 
colleagues to develop a risk based approach to the development of the 2018/19 Annual 
Audit Plan which is the subject of a separate report to this committee.

5.0 Conclusion 

5.1 Overall, all finalised audits undertaken have been rated Substantial or Satisfactory, 
demonstrating that the systems and processes around audit, risk and governance are 
effective. 

5.2 On the basis of the work undertaken during 2017/18, and the results of audit and 
assurance, it is considered that WMCA control environment is robust.

6.0 Financial implications

6.1  No specific implications.

7.0 Legal implications

7.1 No specific implications.
Page 89



8.0 Equalities implications

8.1 No specific implications.

9.0 Other implications

9.1 None.

10.0 Appendices

Appendix 1: Combined Assurance Activities
Appendix 2: Audit Services 2017/18 Reports Issued and 2017/18 Follow-up reviews

Page 90



Appendix 1

 Combined Assurance Activities

Management Controls
 Accountabilities
 Governance
 Process & 

Procedures
 Business Plan
 Dashboards
 Health and Safety
 Resilience 

External Assurance
 External Audit
 IIP Accreditation 
 Best Companies
 OSOs
 P3M3

Corporate Assurance
 Risk Register
 Internal Audit
 Programme 

Assurance
 Business Continuity 
 Insurance 

P
age 91



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Audit Services 2017/18 Reports Issued

Recommendations

Audit Audit Scope Date Issued Area Audit Rating Red Amber Green 

Programme Management 
Office Project Appraisal 
and Support Functions

The review was conducted in two parts: 
• A high-level compliance review of project 
appraisal and support processes undertaken by 
the Programme Management Office for Transport 
for West Midlands related projects. 
• A health check review of project appraisal and 
support processes established and proposed for 
Investment Programme related projects, with 
compliance testing dependent on stages achieved 
by sample projects at the time of review. 
The above reviews included coverage of the 
following functions undertaken by the Programme 
Management Office: 
• Assurance reviews (Tier 1 Review). 
• Risk and Issues support. 
• Change management. 
• Reporting and governance.

18 August 
2017

Corporate 
Services Satisfactory 0 4 2

Transport for West 
Midlands Capital 

Programme Prioritisation

The scope of this audit included high level review 
of the following areas: 
• Appraisal and prioritisation of capital projects to 
assist in allocation of resource to individual 
projects, decision making and formal approval of 
projects into the Capital Programme. 
• Use of key factors and weightings within the 
prioritisation process such as strategic fit, value for 
money, affordability, resources, and deliverability. 
• Use of prioritisation within project pipeline 
development and management.

14 August 
2017 TfWM Satisfactory 0 2 1

P
age 93



Recommendations

Audit Audit Scope Date Issued Area Audit Rating Red Amber Green 

Expenses, Gifts and 
Hospitality

The scope of this review included the following: 
• Submission authorisation and payment of 
expenses;
• Treatment of gifts and hospitality.
The above areas were reviewed to confirm 
compliance with the Constitution and the Travel 
and Expenses Policy.

28 July 2017 Corporate 
Services Satisfactory 0 1 3

Treasury Management

The scope of this review covered the overall 
arrangements and controls in operation for 
treasury management through review of the 
following areas: 
• Strategy, policies and procedures in place for 
governing treasury management activities. 
• Systems and processes for treasury 
management transactions i.e. investments, 
borrowing and lending. 
• Monitoring and reporting arrangements. 
Reference was made to compliance with the 
Combined Authority’s Financial Regulations and 
the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury 
Management (2011).

18 December 
2017

Corporate 
Services Substantial 0 0 2

Key Financial Systems –
Accounts Receivable

• Processing of debtor invoices. 
• Identification, recording and depositing of 
receipts. 
• Debt Management including write-offs. 
• Access controls.

22 January 
2018

Corporate 
Services Substantial 0 0 1

Key Financial System – 
General Ledger

• Reconciliation and review of control and
suspense accounts, bank accounts and error
codes.
• Journals.
• Opening and closing balances;
• Creation/ amendment of general ledger codes

22 January 
2018

Corporate 
Services Substantial 0 0 1

P
age 94



Recommendations

Audit Audit Scope Date Issued Area Audit Rating Red Amber Green 

Key Financial System – 
Payroll

• Payroll changes including starters, leaves and 
amendments. 
• Payroll checks and reconciliations. 
• Segregation of duties. 
• Access controls 
• Management information reporting. 
• Payments to third parties.

22 January 
2018

Corporate 
Services Substantial 0 0 3

Key Financial System – 
Budgetary Control

• Budget preparation and approval. 
• Budget monitoring. 
• Assignment of budgetary responsibility to 
managers. 
• Virements. 
• Final accounts. 
• Access controls

22 January 
2018

Corporate 
Services Satisfactory 0 2 1

Election Funding

A review of the budgetary spend for the Mayoral 
election and compliance with the Electoral 
Commission’s Planning guidance for Combined 
Authority Returning Officers focusing on Section 5: 
Raising Awareness.

The review will also confirm the processes for 
reimbursement of election costs to Local 
Authorities by the WMCA based on receipt of 
certified and verified claims from the Returning 
Officer (Birmingham City Council).

2017/18 Combined 
Authority Substantial 0 0 0

Key Financial Systems
– Accounts Payable

• Approval of purchase requisitions / orders.
• 3-way matching of invoices to goods receipting 
and purchase orders. 
• Processing and authorisation of payment runs.
• Matching payments to the correct invoice / 
payment reference and allocation against the 
correct creditor account.
• Creation and amendment to supplier records. 
• Access controls.

20 February 
2018

Corporate 
Services Substantial 0 0 2

P
age 95



Recommendations

Audit Audit Scope Date Issued Area Audit Rating Red Amber Green 

Governance 
Arrangements for Project 
Approval and Appraisal

This review will aim to provide assurance 
regarding the governance arrangements, project 
appraisal and approval processes in order to 
ensure compliance with the Strategic Economic 
Plan.

06 February 
2018

Corporate 
Services Satisfactory 0 8  0

Management of IR35

• A review of policies and strategies in place for 
managing IR35.
• A review of the systems and processes in place 
for identifying all contractors used by WMCA.
•A review of the systems and processes in place 
for assessing whether identified contractors are 
liable under IR35.
•A review of the systems and processes in place 
for notifying the contractor and their intermediary 
of their assessment outcome.
• A review of the measures WMCA has put in 
place to manage the risk of losing key contractors 
and potential cost increases.

20 February 
2018

Corporate 
Services Satisfactory 0 4 3

Additionally, three further reviews will also be completed in the current financial year:
1. Data Security
2. National Fraud Initiative
3. Establishment of the Mayoral Office

P
age 96



2017/18 Follow-up Reviews

To establish whether audit recommendations agreed in the 2016/17 programme of work have been satisfactorily implemented, 
Internal Audit has conducted follow-up reviews.

Audit Review Issue Date Overall opinion

Cyber Security Audit 2016/17
25 May 2016
(latest target implementation date – 
December 2016)

Limited – 1 red and 6 amber recs

Asset Management 2016/17
22 January 2016 
(latest target implementation date – 
December 2016)

Limited – 3 ambers and 2 green 
recs

Counter Fraud 2016/17
6 October 2016
(latest target implementation date – 31 
March 2017)

Satisfactory – 4 amber recs

Recruitment and Retention Review 2016/17 8 December 2016
(latest target implementation date – 
January 2017)

Limited – 6 red, 2 amber and 1 
green recs

Midland Metro Alliance – 
Governance Arrangements 2016/17

7 April 2017
(latest implementation date – 30 April 
2017)

Satisfactory – 2 amber and 2 
green recs

Procurement Arrangements 2016/17 31 March 2017
(latest implementation date – 31 May 
2017)

Substantial – 4 green recs

West Midlands Special Needs Transport, 
Ring and Ride Ltd (Contract Arrangements) 
2016/17

25 May 2016
(latest implementation date – 31 May 
2017)

Satisfactory – 3 amber and 1 
green recs

Audits on Cyber Security and Recruitment & Retention were rated as limited and progress is still required. For all other audits 
undertaken in 2016/17, it was identified that the recommendations made have now been implemented or are working towards being 
implementation very soon. An audit is scheduled in the 2018/19 plan for Asset Management.

P
age 97



T
his page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 1 of 25

     
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 16 March 2018 
Report title Internal Audit Annual Report 2017/18
Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, Chief Executive of the
WMCA
email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
tel: 0121 214 7552

Accountable 
Employee

Tim Martin, Chief Audit Executive
email: tim.martin@wmca.org.uk
tel: 0121 214 7435

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Leadership Team 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Note the contents of the Internal Audit Annual Report 2017/18.

Page 99



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 2 of 25

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide the Audit, Risk and Assurance 
Committee with an annual internal audit opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Combined Authority’s governance, risk management and 
internal control processes.

2.0 Background

2.1 The Annual Internal Audit Report summarises the work completed by Internal 
Audit during 2017/18. It also provides an annual audit opinion that based on the 
work undertaken during the year, the implementation by management of the 
recommendations made and the assurance made available to the Combined 
Authority by other providers as well as directly by Internal Audit, Internal Audit 
can provide reasonable assurance that the Combined Authority has adequate 
and effective governance, risk management and internal control processes.

3.0 Wider WMCA Implications

3.1 There are no implications

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no implications.

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no implications.

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 There are no implications.

7.0 Other implications

7.1 Not applicable. 

8.0 Schedule of background papers

8.1 None.

9.0 Appendices 

None 

Page 100



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 3 of 25

Internal Audit Annual Report – 2017/18

Delivered by City of Wolverhampton Council - Audit Services

Page 101

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjkh6zMqOvOAhUDuhQKHceGAR8QjRwIBw&url=http://birminghamnewsroom.com/mayoral-west-midlands-combined-authority-consultation-begins/&psig=AFQjCNG5T-wmDivFbU8WsGgucE-6xrxtHQ&ust=1472721188003891


This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 4 of 25

Introduction

Our internal audit work for the period from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 was carried out in 
accordance with the approved Internal Audit Plan. The plan was constructed in such a way 
as to allow us to make a statement on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Combined 
Authority’s governance, risk management and control processes. In this way our annual 
report provides one element of the evidence that underpins the opinion of the Chief Audit 
Executive and the Annual Governance Statement the Combined Authority is required to 
make to accompany its annual financial statements. This is only one aspect of the 
assurances available to the Combined Authority as to the adequacy of governance, risk 
management and control processes. Other sources of assurance on which the Combined 
Authority may rely, could include:

 The work of the External Auditors (Grant Thornton)
 The work of the Combined Authority’s Corporate Assurance Team
 The result of any quality accreditation
 The outcome of any visits by Her Majesty’s Revenues and Customs (HMRC)
 Other pieces of consultancy or third-party work designed to alert the Combined 

Authority to areas of improvement

The definition of internal audit, as described in the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, 
is “Internal Auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity 
designed to add value and improve an organisation’s operations.  It helps an organisation 
accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and 
improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes”.

Internal audit activity is organisationally independent and further details behind the 
framework within which internal audit operates, can be found in the internal audit charter.

 Overall Assurance
As the providers of internal audit to the Combined Authority, we are required to provide the 
Chief Executive and the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee with an opinion on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the Authority’s governance, risk management and control 
processes. In giving our opinion, it should be noted that assurance can never be absolute. 
The most that Internal Audit can provide is reasonable assurance that there are no major 
weaknesses in the Combined Authority’s governance, risk management and control 
processes. We have taken into account:

 All audits undertaken for the year ended 31 March 2018.
 Any follow-up action taken in respect of audits from previous periods.
 Any key recommendations not accepted by management and the consequent 

risks.
 Any limitations which may have been placed on the scope of internal audit.
 The extent to which any resource constraints may impinge on the ability to meet 

the full audit needs of the Combined Authority.

Page 102



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 5 of 25

Internal Audit Opinion
We have conducted our audits in accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards. Within the context of the parameters set out above, our opinion is as follows:

Based on the work undertaken during the year, the implementation by management of the 
recommendations made and the assurance made available to the Combined Authority by 
other providers as well as directly by Internal Audit, Internal Audit can provide reasonable 
assurance that the Combined Authority has adequate and effective governance, risk 
management and internal control processes.

While not fundamental to the overall opinion, we gave a ‘limited’ assurance rating in the 
following areas:

Establishment of the Mayoral Office
Data Security (including GDPR readiness)

In reaching our opinion, the following factors were taken into particular consideration:
 There was a significantly changing environment in 2017/18 with the election of the 

first Mayor, the appointment of a new leadership team, the first development of a 
focussed Strategic Risk Register and the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee’s 
request for a review of the Governance framework and responsibilities which is due 
for completion in 2018/19.

 The need for management to plan appropriate and timely action to implement our 
and other assurance providers’ recommendations. 

 Key areas of significance, identified because of our audit work performed in year 
are included in a table at the end of this report.

Compliance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards

Internal Audit has a quality assurance and improvement 
programme. During the year, the internal audit activity 
has followed this programme and there have been no 
significant areas of non-conformance or deviations from 
the standards as set out in the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards.

Page 103



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 6 of 25

Summary of work completed
A detailed written report and action plan is prepared and issued for every review where appropriate. 
The responsible officer will be asked to respond to the report by completing and returning the action 
plan. This response must show what actions have been taken or are planned in relation to each 
recommendation.

Limited Satisfactory Substantial

There is a risk of 
objectives not being met 
due to serious control 
failings.

A framework of controls is in 
place, but controls need to 
be strengthened further.

There is a robust 
framework of controls 
which are applied 
continuously. 

15 pieces of audit work have been completed where an audit opinion has been provided. A 
summary of the audit opinions given is set out below:

Opinion 2017/18

Substantial 6

Satisfactory 7

Limited 2

A summary for each completed audit review is detailed below.

Page 104



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Appendix 1. 

Page 7 of 25

Summary of audit reviews completed

The following internal audit reviews were completed during 2017/18 and have been presented to the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee at various points 
throughout the year.

        Recommendations
Auditable area Red Amber Green Total Number 

accepted
Level of assurance

Programme Management Office Project Appraisal
and Support Functions* - 4 2 6 5* Satisfactory

Transport for West Midlands Capital Programme - 2 1 3 3 Satisfactory

Expenses, and Gifts and Hospitality - 1 3 4 4 Satisfactory
Investment Programme – Governance
Arrangements for Project Appraisal and Approval - 8 0 8 8 Satisfactory

Treasury Management Key Financial System - - 2 2 2 Substantial

Accounts Receivable Key Financial System - - 1 1 1 Substantial

General Ledger Key Financial System - - 1 1 1 Substantial

Payroll Key Financial System - - 3 3 3 Substantial

Budgetary Control Key Financial System - 2 1 3 3 Satisfactory

Accounts Payable Key Financial System - - 2 2 2 Substantial

IR35 - 4 3 7 7 Satisfactory

Election Costs - - - 0 0 Substantial

National Fraud Initiative - 2 4 6 6 Satisfactory

Establishment of the Mayoral Office 1 6 - 7 7 Limited
Data Security Arrangements (including GDPR 
readiness) 1 3 - 4 4 Limited

P
age 105



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 8 of 25

 * This issue related to the certification of approvals and at the time of our review the previous Head of the Programme Office indicated that there was a compensating 
control. We have subsequently revisited this area as part of our recent Investment Programme audit and recommendations to address this issue have been accepted and will 
be implemented as part of the external WMCA Portfolio Management and Assurance review being undertaken of all WMCA programme management, governance and 
appraisal processes.

Summary of individual audits

The following two reviews were categorised as Limited Assurance. 

Establishment of the Mayoral Office

The objective of our review was to provide an audit opinion on compliance with the WMCA’s Constitution as part of the establishment of the 
Mayoral Office and current operational processes relating to the Mayoral Office budget. We recognise that the Mayoral Office is a new service 
area and that it’s establishment was undertaken in extremely short timescales post-election. Consequently, initial arrangements to engage 
employees that were already involved in the Mayor’s election campaign may understandably not have followed the standard selection process. 

While several issues have been identified where improvements and compliance was required, these should be viewed proportionately in the 
context of the Mayoral Office budget in relation to the overall WMCA budget. Where recommendations relate to corporate processes, these have 
been agreed with the relevant service area within Corporate Services.  All other recommendations have been agreed with the Mayor’s Chief of 
Staff. In support of these recommendations, a lessons learnt exercise should be undertaken by Corporate Services in liaison with the Mayoral 
Office to help ensure that an appropriate protocol is developed to address future Mayoral changes. A copy of the report has been attached to this 
report.

Data Security Arrangements (including GDPR readiness)

We identified several issues relating to the formalisation of the WMCA’s approach to readiness activities and proposed implementation of an 
Information Assurance Framework, based on the UK Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO) 12 Step GDPR programme, following a review the 
outcomes of the external GDPR Gap Analysis Review commissioned by the WMCA in December 2017. A copy of the report has been attached 
to this report.

The following reviews were categorised as either Satisfactory or Substantial Assurance.

Programme Management Office Project Appraisal and Support Functions

P
age 106



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 9 of 25

The Programme Management Office undertakes project appraisal and support functions for both Transport for West Midlands projects and the 
Investment Programme, although each is subject to different funding and approval arrangements and therefore associated assurance and 
appraisal processes. 

We identified issues where improvements could be made regarding the development of individual gated assurance reviews for Investment 
Programme projects, ensuring local assurance and endorsement processes had been clearly established for Investment Programme projects led 
by Transport for West Midlands, certification by project sponsors and evidencing of approvals within Department of Communities and Local 
Government specified templates, and development of change control procedures for the Investment Programme. 
Transport for West Midlands Capital Programme

The objective of our review was to provide an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the appraisal and prioritisation of projects within the 
Transport for West Midlands Capital Programme (non-asset management). We had found that the prioritisation and ranking mechanism that had 
been developed clearly demonstrated a robust basis for supporting allocation of resources amongst competing concepts within constrained 
resources based on best practice and Department for Transport guidance, and can be adapted to reflect emerging priorities and strategic 
direction. 

However, whilst recognising that development of the 2017/18 Capital Programme involved a one-off call out for Problem / Opportunity 
Statements for ranking, we identified areas for improvement regarding establishment of a pipeline development and management approach to 
the statements submitted for ranking as well as alignment to the Transport for West Midlands Gated Project Lifecycle Process, within which the 
prioritisation process could be used in future. We also noted scope for improving the endorsement and review of the statements prior to their 
submission to the ranking process as part of the one-off exercise in 2016/17 in support of development of the 2017/18 Capital Programme, 
noting that the relevant Boards may only have been recently established prior to the call-out exercise. 

Expenses, and Gifts and Hospitality

An audit of the arrangements in place for the payment of expenses, (including travel) and the acceptance of gifts and hospitality in relation to 
employees, the Mayor, Members and Councillors was undertaken as part of the approved Internal Audit Plan for 2017/2018. The objective of the 
review was to seek assurance that expenses were claimed and paid, and gifts and hospitality were dealt with in accordance with the WMCA’s 
Constitution and Travel and Expenses policy.

We identified one area where improvements could be made regarding full completion of gifts and hospitality declaration forms in all instances 
and evidencing explicitly the reasons for the offer and whether accepted or declined. 

Investment Programme – Governance Arrangements for Project Appraisal and Approval

P
age 107



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 10 of 25

The objective of our review was to seek assurance that the governance and decision-making arrangements established and operated were in 
accordance with the Project Lifecycle Process and associated terms of reference for the Investment Programme. The Assurance Framework 
outlines the Project Lifecycle Process which stipulates the assessment and evaluation processes and associated roles and responsibilities at 
each stage of the Project Lifecycle, to ensure the 30-year Investment Programme funding is allocated to projects that best fit the strategic 
objectives as stated in the Strategic Economic Plan. 

We understand that the Project Lifecycle Process stipulated within the overall Assurance Framework was developed at the time of the 
constitution of the Combined Authority and applied in the context of an emerging organisation, and that the processes established were based on 
projects that had already reached a level of maturity within programmes that had already been approved for funding within the Devolution Deal. 

Consequently, we reviewed the appraisal and approval processes that current projects had progressed through, recognising that projects may 
not have progressed through the exact processes and channels that were introduced and expected to be used at the formation of the Combined 
Authority. 

We did note that the governance arrangements stipulated in the Assurance Framework for the Project Lifecycle Process regarding the 
Investment Programme had been clearly established and were found to be operating as evidenced within the minutes maintained for the various 
boards involved from the Investment Advisory Group through to the WMCA Board.

Therefore, the issues identified in our review, while complex need to be taken into context against the above. We did identify eight amber issues 
where improvements could be made, regarding appraisal, scoring and evaluation processes including due diligence activities, roles and 
responsibilities, initiation of projects into the Investment Programme, monitoring and tracking project progress through the Lifecycle, confirmation 
of project local assurance, and review of individual project monitoring and evaluation plans. 

As the Section 151 officer as well as accountable lead for the delivery of the Investment Programme, the Director of Finance following this 
internal audit and several personnel changes involved in the Investment Programme had commissioned an external independent programme 
management consultant to undertake a wider WMCA Portfolio Management and Assurance review of all WMCA programme management, 
governance and appraisal processes including those relating to the Investment Programme.
The Director of Finance had advised that the Portfolio Management and Assurance review will be concluded in July 2018 and that a full action 
plan to address issues highlighted by the external review and the issues identified within this internal audit review will be developed for 
implementation by December 2018.

They also confirmed that immediate action was currently being undertaken to address urgent operational level issues relating to areas such as 
programme / project appraisal undertaken by the Technical Appraisal Panel, evidencing of their appraisal and decision making as well as 
tracking of business cases / recommendations through the current governance arrangements. The Performance Management Group would 
oversee the implementation of these recommendations. 

P
age 108



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 11 of 25

In addition to the above actions, they had advised that the WMCA Board had approved that all existing programmes within the Investment 
Programme that had not reached contract award stage would be reviewed to confirm that the income assumptions align with commitments to 
funding projects according to strategic alignment, due to funding constraints. We understand that the exercise will be concluded in July 2018 and 
will be undertaken in liaison with all Constituent Authority Leaders. We further understand that the WMCA is currently in discussion with the 
Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government regarding review of the overall WMCA Assurance Framework as part of the 
forthcoming Annual Conversation.

Consequently, whilst we understand that immediate action will be taken to address operational issues identified within this report, and action will 
be taken as result of the outcome of the Portfolio Management and Assurance review by December 2018, we recognise that the potential 
outcomes of the scheduling exercise and the review of the overall Assurance Framework may have implications for the Investment Programme 
and associated processes once outcomes are known.

The Director of Finance had advised that a review update covering the above areas would be provided to the Audit, Risk and Assurance 
Committee in July 2018. An internal audit follow-up review will be undertaken in due course.

Key Financial Systems

The objective of the Treasury Management Key Financial System audit was to seek assurance that appropriate arrangements were in place for 
the effective management and control of the Combined Authority’s treasury management activities, and were undertaken in compliance with the 
Constitution / Financial Regulations and the Code of Practice. The scope of the audit included strategy, policies and procedures in place for 
governing treasury management activities, systems and processes for treasury management transactions i.e. investments, borrowing and 
lending, and monitoring and reporting arrangements. Reference was made to compliance with the Combined Authority’s Financial Regulations 
and the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (2011). We identified no issues of concern.

We also reviewed the following key financial systems, with a particular focus on compliance with the Financial Regulations and Contract 
Procedure Rules. No significant issues of concern were raised:

 Accounts Receivable
 General ledger
 Payroll
 Budgetary Control
 Accounts Payable

P
age 109



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 12 of 25

IR35

On 6 April 2017 the government enforced IR35 on all public-sector contracts. ‘IR35’ is the name given to the tax legislation aimed at identifying 
individuals who have arrangements set up to avoid tax and national insurance.  At the time of our review, 74 cases were identified by WMCA as 
potentially falling under IR35 and were therefore subject to a formal assessment to determine whether they should be taxed the same way than 
that as a general employee. Out of the 74 cases, 31 cases were determined to be within the scope of IR35 and were actioned in accordance with 
the legislation.

We reviewed the policies and strategies in place for managing IR35, the systems and processes in place for identifying all contractors used by 
WMCA, assessing whether identified contractors were liable under IR35 and for notifying the contractor and their intermediary of their 
assessment outcome, and the measures that WMCA had put in place to manage the risk of losing key contractors and potential cost increases. 

We identified issues where improvements could be made regarding the timeliness of sending and receiving Off-Payroll Workers Questionnaires 
and performing a HMRC assessment and documentation to evidence the Payroll and Pensions Manager’s role as the assigned WMCA nominated 
point of contact for IR35. In addition, recommendations were made regarding the development of procedures to identify potential IR35 cases and 
ensure they include a review of WMCA’s finance systems to capture all contractors/interims who should be subject to an IR35 assessment, and 
completion of the HMRC’s Employment Status tool in all cases where workers were supplied by agencies. 

Election costs

The objective of our review was to seek assurance that the elections costs incurred by WMCA were in accordance with the Electoral 
Commission’s planning guidance for Combined Authority Returning Officers (raising awareness and reimbursement of costs to local authorities) 
and to ensure that proper procedures were in place to reimburse Local Authorities for the costs they incurred whilst administering the election on 
behalf of WMCA. We identified no major issues

National Fraud Initiative

An audit of the arrangements in place for the National Fraud Initiative (NFI) data matching exercise was undertaken as part of the approved 
internal audit plan for 2017/2018. WMCA participates in the Cabinet Offices National Fraud Initiative exercise which requires the CA to submit a 
range of data sets which are matched to data provided by other organisations to detect potential fraud. The matches are accessed through a 
secure website where the outcomes are also recorded. The resulting matches may indicate fraud, error of inconsistency which require 
investigation. The objective of the audit was to seek assurance that the National Fraud Initiative exercise is conducted in accordance with the 
Code of Data Matching Practice. 

P
age 110



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 13 of 25

We identified issues where improvements could be made regarding inclusion of reference to the NFI Fair Processing Notice in Concessionary 
Travel Pass application forms and ensuring WMCA users with access to the NFI website have had criminal record checks completed in 
accordance with the NFI Security Policy. 

Follow up of previous recommendations 

We also continue to monitor the implementation of previous key recommendations, and any major issues of concern relating to their non-
implementation, will be reported back to the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee. 

Cyber Security 2016/17 

The original report made several recommendations to improve the overall control and effectiveness of the Cyber Security arrangements. We 
have reviewed the progress made to date with implementation of the recommendations in liaison with the Head of ICT, Head of Governance and 
the Cyber Security Specialist. Although full implementation had yet to be achieved against our earlier recommendations and the original 
implementation dates had, we note that a series of activities and processes have been undertaken and work is ongoing to ensure the 
recommendations are fully implemented as part of wider information governance and security arrangements.  The Audit, Risk and Assurance 
Committee will continue to be updated on this issue on an ongoing basis. A copy of the report has been attached to this report.

Recruitment and Retention 2016/17

Our report made nine recommendations to improve the overall control and effectiveness of the recruitment and retention arrangements. We 
found that progress had been made with the implementation of several recommendations but not in others. For example, our testing identified 
that Right to Work checks had not been undertaken prior to the employee start date in all instances.

We understand that an online recruitment system has been implemented to be further strengthened with greater workflow automation, dedicated 
resource has recently been engaged to support recruitment and selection processes, and Human Resource employees are required to undertake 
checklist monitoring to ensure files are complete, recruitment documentation is completed and retained, and all checks undertaken. 

The Interim Head of Organisational Development has advised that the above mechanisms as well as ongoing review of processes and practices 
should ensure that full implementation of the outstanding recommendations will soon be reached. Revised implementation dates of immediate 
have been agreed for all outstanding red recommendations and 30 April 2018 for all outstanding amber recommendations

P
age 111



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 14 of 25

 Internal Audit Report
Establishment of the Mayoral Office 2017-2018

 8 March 2018

Delivered by City of Wolverhampton Council – Audit Services

Page 112

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjkh6zMqOvOAhUDuhQKHceGAR8QjRwIBw&url=http://birminghamnewsroom.com/mayoral-west-midlands-combined-authority-consultation-begins/&psig=AFQjCNG5T-wmDivFbU8WsGgucE-6xrxtHQ&ust=1472721188003891


This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 15 of 25

1. Executive summary

Introduction 
An audit of the establishment of the Mayoral Office (including current operational processes) 
was undertaken as part of the approved internal audit plan for 2017-2018.
A central condition of the Devolution deal was the election of a West Midlands Mayor. The 
Mayor is elected for an initial three-year term. The Mayoral Office was established following the 
Mayoral election held on 4 May 2017. 
On 17 March 2017, the West Midlands Combined Authority Board approved a budget for the 
Mayoral Office of £370,000 for the period 5 May 2017 to 31 March 2018 (£388,000 for the full 
year). Overall, expenditure was forecasted to be within budget when reported to the WMCA 
Board on 8 December 2017.

Scope and objectives of audit work
Our audit was conducted in conformance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards and 
considered the following objectives, and the potential risks to the achievement of those objectives:

 To seek assurance that the establishment of the Mayoral Office and current operational 
processes relating to the Mayoral Office budget, were undertaken in accordance with the 
WMCA Constitution.

Scope Potential risks

The scope of the review included:
 Budgetary control and monitoring
 Recruitment
 Payroll
 Purchasing

As part of the above, key lines of expenditure 
within the dedicated Mayoral Office budget 
were reviewed as well as compliance with the 
WMCA Constitution.

Human Resource, Financial Regulations and 
Contract Procedure Rules within the 
Constitution may not be fully complied with. 

Limitations to the scope of our audit

The review was limited to the above areas subject to review of all lines of expenditure within the 
budget and expenditure / income transactions against the Mayoral Office budget, to date. 
However, during the audit an additional budget was identified for events and this was also 
reviewed.

Page 113



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 16 of 25

Overall conclusion
Limited Satisfactory SubstantialTaking account of the issues identified 

in this report, in our opinion the controls 
operating within the system, provide 
only limited assurance as part of the 
process to mitigate risks to an 
acceptable level.

There is a risk 
of objectives 
not being met 
due to serious 
control 
failings.

A framework of 
controls is in 
place, but 
controls need to 
be strengthened 
further.

There is a robust 
framework of 
controls which 
are applied 
continuously. 

Key issues identified
We have identified one red and six amber issues where improvements could be made.  

Recruitment
 Employees’ right to work checks were not undertaken prior to employee start dates as 

required by the Home Office, for six of the seven original Mayoral Office employees 
engaged post-election. (red)

 Scope for improving the records and decision-making process undertaken as part of the 
setup of the original compliment of Mayoral Office employees.

 For the one recruitment exercise undertaken within the Mayoral Office, interview and 
scoring records did not fully demonstrate the decision-making process undertaken and 
justification for the outcome / appointment. 

Budgetary control and monitoring 
 Detailed budget monitoring was not undertaken by the Mayoral Office at a transactional 

level leading to miscodings and a duplicate payment not being identified.

Purchasing
 Credit cards had been utilised by employees other than the cardholder in breach of the 

signed employee credit card agreement. This occurred both in the Mayoral Office and 
Business Support (Corporate Services). In addition, VAT receipts / invoices were not 
always provided by the cardholder to support credit card purchases and facilitate reclaiming 
of VAT. 

 Contract Procedure Rules had not been fully complied with in one instance relating to an 
invoice totalling £16,574 (plus VAT), for which an order had not been raised and details had 
not been presented to Procurement prior to commitment of expenditure.

 Cheques / BACs requisitions were not always suitably authorised and checks prior to 
payment had not always been evidenced as appropriately undertaken.

We recognise that the Mayoral Office is a new service area and that it’s establishment was 
undertaken in extremely short timescales post-election. Consequently, initial arrangements to 
engage employees that were already involved in the Mayor’s election campaign may 
understandably not have followed the standard selection process. 

Page 114



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 17 of 25

While several issues have been identified where improvements and compliance was required, 
these should be viewed proportionately in the context of the Mayoral Office budget in relation to 
the overall WMCA budget.

Where recommendations relate to corporate processes, these have been agreed with the 
relevant service area within Corporate Services.  All other recommendations have been agreed 
with the Mayor’s Chief of Staff. In support of these recommendations, a lessons learnt exercise 
should be undertaken by Corporate Services in liaison with the Mayoral Office to help ensure 
that an appropriate protocol is developed to address future Mayoral changes. 

The contents of this report will be presented to the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee.

Examples of good practice identified
During our work we identified the following examples of good practice in the management of risk, as 
achieved through the effective design and application of controls:
Budgetary control and monitoring

 A budget plan for the Mayoral Office was approved before the start of the financial year and 
before the Mayoral Office was established and correctly entered in Business World.

 A budget manager for the Mayoral budgets had been clearly identified. 

 The Mayoral Office budget was being monitored on a regular basis by the Lead Accountant 
and the Chief of Staff (as budget manager) at a high level. In addition, the budget was also 
being discussed at the Leadership Team meetings.

Payroll

 All employees had been set up on the payroll in accordance with the information received 
from Human Resources and their respective contracts of employment.

 Leavers have been actioned in accordance with the authorised leavers notifications.

 All employees were being paid in accordance with their respective contracts of 
employment.

Purchasing

 An appropriate Scheme of Delegation had been approved for the Mayoral Office budget and 
Mayoral Events budget cost centres.

 Business World online transactions were suitably authorised in accordance with the Scheme 
of Delegation and demonstrated a suitable separation of duties.

 Monthly credit card expenditure was reviewed by the cardholders and their manager.

 Supporting documentation was retained and reviewed to support all credit card transactions 
by the cardholders.

 Payment of expense claims had been suitably authorised and processed.

Acknowledgement
Several employees gave their time and co-operation during this review.  We would like to record 
our thanks to all the individuals concerned.

Page 115



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 18 of 25

2. Issues arising
Priority rating for issues identified:

Red
Action is imperative to ensure that the 
objectives for the area under review 
are met

Amber
Action is required to avoid exposure 
to significant risks in achieving 
objectives

Green 
Action is advised to enhance risk 
control or operational efficiency

Action is imperative to ensure that the objectives for the area under review are met
Red

No Issue arising Agreed action including responsibility and 
target date

2.1 Entitlement to Work
We found that for six of the seven original 
employees, the required right to work checks 
had not been undertaken prior to the 
commencement of employment.

Four employees were engaged on 8 May 
2017, following the election of the Mayor on 
4 May 2017. Whilst acknowledging the initial 
limited timescales involved at that time, the 
right to work checks had not been 
undertaken until 22 and 25 May 2017 
respectively.

We further identified that for the three 
employees who commenced employment in 
June 2017, in one case the check was 
undertaken on the start date, one check was 
undertaken the day after they started and in 
the remaining case, 10 days after the start 
date.

We recognise that the original compliment of 
employees (who were engaged by the Mayor 
as part of his election campaign) were 
brought into the WMCA as part of the initial 
arrangements to establish the Mayoral 
Office. The Interim Head of Organisational 
Development advised that there was 
insufficient time to undertake all checks prior 
to engagement and the checks were 
undertaken when feasible.

However, the right to work check must be 
undertaken by employers who employ 
employees under a contract of employment 

For all future employees of the Mayoral 
Office right to work checks will be 
undertaken prior to commencement of 
employment.

Responsibility: Rita Rais – Interim Head of 
Organisational Development

Target Date: Immediate

Page 116



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 19 of 25

Action is imperative to ensure that the objectives for the area under review are met
Red

No Issue arising Agreed action including responsibility and 
target date

prior to commencement to ensure that they 
are legally allowed to work. The Home Office 
legislation states that it is not enough to 
undertake the check on the first day of 
employment if the employment has already 
started.

Implication
Breach of the Immigration Asylum and 
Nationality Act 2006. 

Action is required to avoid exposure to significant risks in achieving objectives
Amber

No Issue arising Agreed action including responsibility and 
target date

2.2 Staffing establishment
We recognise that the Mayoral Office is a 
new service area and that its establishment 
was undertaken in extremely short 
timescales post-election. Consequently, 
initial arrangements to engage employees 
that were already involved in the Mayor’s 
election campaign did not necessarily follow 
the standard recruitment and selection 
process that is now in place. However, at the 
time of the appointments there was email 
correspondence charting the thought and 
decision-making process behind the 
appointments.
 
Implications:
The appointment process could be 
challenged. 

Action will be taken to ensure appropriate 
documentary evidence is retained to support 
the decision making and approval undertaken 
in all cases, as part of future planning for 
staffing arrangements for the current and 
future Mayoral Offices. 
 
Responsibility: Sean Pearce – Director of 
Finance
 
Target date: Immediate

Page 117



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 20 of 25

Action is required to avoid exposure to significant risks in achieving objectives
Amber

No Issue arising Agreed action including responsibility and 
target date

2.3 Recruitment 
We found from review of the recruitment 
records for the post of the Personnel 
Assistant within the Mayoral Office that they 
did not include fully completed 
documentation to support the interview / 
selection process. 
We noted that only one of the three interview 
panellists had fully completed, scored and 
signed the interview records. The remaining 
two records had not been fully completed 
and only one signed. 

Consequently, the documentation held did 
not fully demonstrate the decision-making 
process undertaken and justification for the 
outcome / appointment. 

Implication
It may not be possible to fully evidence a 
transparent, fair process. This could lead to 
challenges to the recruitment process and 
damage to the reputation of the WMCA.

Documentation required as part of the 
interview process will be fully completed and 
signed, and the agreed outcome of the 
process will be clearly evidenced to 
demonstrate the decision-making process 
undertaken and justification for the outcome / 
appointment. 

Responsibility: Rita Rais – Interim Head of 
Organisational Development

Target Date: Immediate

2.4 Budget Monitoring
We noted that whilst the Chief of Staff to the 
Mayor was undertaking periodic high-level 
reviews of the budget in liaison with the 
Lead Accountant (Planning and 
Performance) and that the current forecast 
indicates that expenditure will be within 
budget, the Mayoral Office was not 
undertaking detailed transactional 
monitoring.

We found several miscoded transactions 
involving minor values against the Mayoral 
Office budget (MY10) that were not 
previously identified. The potential 
miscodings (mainly credit card payments / 
BACs requisitions) have been referred to the 
Planning and Performance team for 
investigation and corrective action, some 
have been confirmed as definite miscodings.

Budgets will be regularly reviewed and 
monitored by the Mayoral Office at a 
transactional level to ensure all the 
expenditure and income against the Mayoral 
Office budget is as expected and authorised.

The Mayoral Office Budget Manager will 
ensure that access to transactional reports in 
Business World is obtained and granted to 
delegated employees to enable them to 
monitor expenditure and income to ensure it 
is appropriate.

Outcomes of transactional monitoring will be 
taken account of within the monthly 
monitoring meetings held with Planning and 
Performance.

A review of all expenditure and income in this 
year’s budget has been commenced to 

Page 118



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 21 of 25

Action is required to avoid exposure to significant risks in achieving objectives
Amber

No Issue arising Agreed action including responsibility and 
target date

The Chief of Staff had advised that 
transactional monitoring could be 
undertaken in the future by the Executive 
Assistant once access is arranged to 
Business World to facilitate monitoring.

Implication:
Budgetary information may not be fully 
accurate and complete. 

ensure they are appropriate and any 
identified errors will be resolved in liaison with 
Planning and Performance.

Responsibility: Andrew Browning – Chief of 
Staff, Mayoral Office

Target date: 31 March 2018

All identified miscodings will be reviewed by 
Planning and Performance and action will be 
taken to rectify these.

Responsibility: Linda Horne – Head of 
Finance and Business Planning

Target date: Immediate 

2.5 Credit Card Usage
We found that one of the credit cards issued 
to the Mayoral Office was routinely used by 
other employees within the Mayoral Office 
as confirmed through discussion with the 
Executive Assistant and review of a sample 
of credit card transactions coded against the 
Mayoral Office budget. 
The WMCA Cardholder Agreement signed by 
cardholders on receipt of a credit card clearly 
stated within the terms and conditions that the 
card should not be lent to or used by third 
parties. 
The Head of Business Support advised that 
although a card was issued to one member 
of the Business Support Team, the card was 
viewed as a team card and therefore used 
by several Team members. We also found 
that in a sample of 10 transactions, a VAT 
receipt had not been attached in eight 
instances. Whilst recognising that the 
payments made were of low value, we noted 
that VAT was paid in five instances. However, 
as there was no valid VAT receipt / invoice 
submitted the WMCA was unable to reclaim 
the VAT paid. 

All employees with credit cards will be 
reminded that in accordance with the WMCA 
Cardholder Agreement:

 Cards should only be utilised in 
accordance with the specified terms and 
conditions.

 Cards should be held securely by the 
cardholder, and the card (and its details) 
should not be shared with anyone i.e. 
third parties.

 A valid VAT receipt / invoice to support 
each purchase made via a credit card 
should be obtained.

In addition, employees will be reminded of the 
penalties for failing to follow the terms and 
conditions in the Cardholder Agreement.

The operational implications of the above 
restrictions will be reviewed and appropriate 
action taken to address service delivery 
requirements regarding the use of credit cards 
and the need for any additional cards.

Page 119



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 22 of 25

Action is required to avoid exposure to significant risks in achieving objectives
Amber

No Issue arising Agreed action including responsibility and 
target date

Implication:
 Credit cards are not being utilised in 

accordance with the WMCA Cardholder 
Agreement terms and conditions.

 Employees may find it difficult to refute 
allegations in the event of query or fraud as 
there is limited accountability for purchases 
being made. 

 WMCA may not be recouping all monies 
due.

The authorising officer for each cardholder will 
be reminded of the need to ensure that 
cardholders comply with the terms and 
conditions of the Cardholder Agreement and 
check that all required supporting 
documentation has been provided when 
authorising statements.

Responsibility: Linda Horne – Head of 
Finance and Business Planning

Target date: Immediate 

2.6 Contract Procedure Rules compliance
When reviewing transactions in the Mayoral 
Office budget we found that an invoice 
relating to the Mayoral Diwali event for 
£16,574 had been paid via telegraphic 
transfer and that an order had not been 
raised within Business World. 

As this payment was made directly via 
telegraphic transfer, the transaction would 
not have followed the standard automated 
Business World Accounts Payable 
compliance process. Consequently, the 
transaction was not automatically presented 
to Procurement prior to actioning in 
accordance with Contract Procedure Rules 
for expenditure over £5,000. Procurement 
had advised that they had not been sighted 
on this expenditure but if they had been, a 
supplier record would have been created 
and an order raised within Business World.

Implication:
 Non-compliance with the WMCA’s 

Contract Procedure Rules.
 Value for money may not be obtained or 

may be difficult to demonstrate.

All expenditure against the Mayoral Office 
budget will be undertaken in accordance with 
the WMCA’s Contract Procedure Rules (via 
both electronic and manual processing).

Manual transactions will be fully evidenced as 
compliant with Contract Procedure Rules with 
suitable retention of quotes and approvals 
from budget managers and Procurement.

Wherever possible, orders will be raised within 
Business World prior to receipt of invoice to 
ensure that the expenditure is committed 
against the budget and the standard / 
automated process is complied with.

Responsibility: Andrew Browning – Chief of 
Staff, Mayoral Office

Target date: Immediate

In support of the above actions, discussions 
will be undertaken with the WMCA 
Procurement Manager to consider the Mayoral 
Office’s procurement needs and determine the 
most appropriate procurement arrangements / 
mechanisms to address those needs as and 
when they arise whilst ensuring compliance.

Responsibility: Andrew Browning – Chief of 
Staff, Mayoral Office
Target date: 31 March 2018

Page 120



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 23 of 25

Action is required to avoid exposure to significant risks in achieving objectives
Amber

No Issue arising Agreed action including responsibility and 
target date

2.7 Cheques / BACs requisition transactions
We identified several payments from the 
Mayoral Office budget that were actioned via 
cheques / BACs requisitions. 
We understand the requisition can either be 
completed by the service area or by 
Business Support on their behalf and are 
then authorised by the delegated approver / 
budget manager. Finance process these 
payments on receipt of the requisition and 
supporting evidence i.e. receipts, invoices. 
We further understand that this method of 
payment was largely used with Sundry 
Creditors in emergencies or for one-off 
orders where a supplier had not been 
previously set up in Business World.  
 
Testing of a sample of five transactions paid 
via manual requisitions identified that:

 One payment had not been authorised 
and had also been miscoded to the 
Mayoral Office budget. 

 One payment had been authorised by 
someone who was not listed as an 
authorised signatory under the Scheme 
of Delegation for the Mayoral Office 
budget.

 Payment for the same expenditure item 
had been requisitioned twice by 
Business Support on receipt of 
instructions from the Mayoral Office and 
both had been processed for payment 
but this had not been detected. We 
identified that the first payment made 
was incomplete and the second was paid 
in full but for a higher amount than 
required. This was reported to Finance 
who have confirmed that a duplicate 
payment had occurred and would be 
corrected. 

The respective budget managers for the 
Mayoral Office and Business Support will 
remind their employees that: 

 Cheques / BACs requisitions should be 
fully completed.

 Certified as approved in accordance with 
the Scheme of Delegation.

 Only employees who can confirm that 
prices are correct, goods had been 
received and checked to order should 
certify these sections on the requisition.

Responsibility: 

Mayoral Office – Andrew Browning, Chief of 
Staff. 

Business Support – Rita Rais, Interim Head 
of Organisational Development

Target date: Immediate

As part of transactional budget monitoring by 
the Mayoral Office, checks will be undertaken 
against the transactional budget reports (and 
evidenced) to ensure that payments are 
made accurately, completely and only once. 

Responsibility: Andrew Browning – Chief of 
Staff, Mayoral Office

Target date: 31 March 2018

Prior to processing, Accounts Payable will 
check that the requisition form received has 
been authorised by an appropriate budget 
manager in accordance with the relevant 
Scheme of Delegation.  Any not fully 
completed and / or not signed in accordance 
with the Scheme of Delegation will be 
referred to the budget manager.

Page 121



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 24 of 25

Action is required to avoid exposure to significant risks in achieving objectives
Amber

No Issue arising Agreed action including responsibility and 
target date

 In two instances the requisition form had 
not been fully completed to evidence 
confirmation of prices as correct, goods 
received and checked to order. 

 In one instance where the requisition had 
been completed by Business Support, 
there was no clear explanation regarding 
the basis / evidence upon which the 
checks were confirmed as completed.

We noted that checks to confirm whether 
payment had been made previously may not 
be routinely undertaken. 

Implication:
Unauthorised, incorrect and unsupported 
payments are being made.

Responsibility: Linda Horne – Head of 
Finance and Business Planning

Target date: Immediate 

Page 122



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 25 of 25

Limitations inherent to the internal auditor’s work
This report has been prepared solely for the 
Combined Authority in accordance with the 
terms and conditions set out in the terms of 
reference. Internal audit does not accept or 
assume any liability of duty of care for any 
other purpose or to any other party. This 
report should not be disclosed to any third 
party, quoted or referred to without prior 
consent. Internal audit has undertaken this 
review subject to the limitations outlined 
below. 
Internal control
 Internal control systems, no matter how 

well designed and operated, are 
affected by inherent limitations. These 
include the possibility of poor 
judgement in decision making, human 
error, control processes being 
deliberately circumvented by 
employees and others, management 
overriding controls and the occurrence 
of unforeseeable circumstances.

Responsibilities of management and auditors
 It is management’s responsibility to 

develop and maintain sound systems of 
risk management, internal control and 
governance for the prevention and 
detection of irregularities and fraud. 
Internal audit work should not be a 
substitute for management’s 
responsibilities for the design and 
operation of these systems. 

 Internal audit endeavours to plan audit 
work so that it has a reasonable 
expectation of detecting significant control 
weakness and if detected, will carry out 
additional work directed towards 
identification of consequent fraud or other 
irregularities. However, internal audit 
procedures alone, even when carried out 
with due professional care, do not 
guarantee that fraud will be detected. 

 Accordingly, these examinations by 
internal auditors should not be relied upon 
solely to disclose fraud or other 
irregularities which may exist.

Date Issued: 8 March 2018

Report distribution:    Sean Pearce – Director of Finance
Andrew Browning – Chief of Staff, Mayoral Office 
Tim Martin – Head of Governance
Rita Rais – Interim Head of Organisational 
Development
Linda Horne – Head of Finance and Business Planning

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 125

By virtue of paragraph(s) 7 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 16th March 2018
Report title WMCA Assurance Overview March 2018

Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, OBE
Chief Executive of the WMCA
Email: Deborah.Cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: 0121 214 7552

Accountable 
Employee

Sean Pearce, WMCA Director of Finance 
Email Sean.Pearce@wmca.org.uk 
Tel (0121) 214 7936

Report to be/has been 
considered by

None

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

a) Note the assurance reviews and activities that have been undertaken in the last 
six months (paragraphs 4-37).

b) Confirm that ARAC are satisfied with the assurance activity October – March 2018.

Page 153



2

Purpose of Report

1. The report provides members the views of WMCA’s Corporate Assurance Manager’s 
opinion on the Authority’s systems of Project & Programme Assurance and Business 
Assurance (including Risk Management, Internal Audit and Business Continuity & 
resilience) for this reporting period October 2017 – March 2018.

Background

2. The intention of the report is to summarise the assurance activity since the last 
reporting period and highlight any matters that are of concern that require further 
consideration or additional assurance activity. 

3. Since the last update and supporting the transitional arrangements to WMCA, the 
Corporate Assurance team have continued to develop and refine appropriate 
assurance processes for the West Midlands Combined Authority. A brief summary of 
this activity is also provided in this report for note at this point in time.

Project & Programme Assurance

TfWM/ Corporate Services Minor Project Assurance Summary

4. A total of 27 project assurance reviews have been undertaken by the Corporate 
Assurance Team in this period, covering 19 different projects. These projects follow 
the WMCA Gateway Project Methodology for minor projects. Of these, 4 reviews 
considered projects which are likely to be in excess of the £5m threshold normally 
applied to minor projects.  These were Longbridge Park and Ride, Perry Barr, 3G 
Trams and UK Connected Autonomous Vehicles.  

5. Of the 27 project reviews 2 related to the Investment Programme, these were New 
Stations and Sutton Coldfield Gateway.

6. The TfWM Capital Programme 2018/19 has now been approved by the WMCA Board.

7. Due to findings from the internal audit report for project appraisal processes, the 
internal governance arrangements for minor works projects funded through the Capital 
Programme are being reviewed. The review is being led by the Corporate Assurance 
lead with the Programme Management Office and Project Development team.

WMCA Investment Programme Major Project Assurance Summary

8. Programme Assurance arrangements for major projects within the Investment 
Programme have continued to be undertaken in accordance to the approved WMCA 
Assurance Framework and project investment process. Technical Appraisal Panel 
provide initial assurance on submission of business cases for funding for Investment 
Programme funding. 

Page 154



3

9. Covering the period October 2017 – March 2018, 11 business cases have been 
reviewed by Technical Appraisal Panel (TAP). Namely; 

 Coventry Station Master Plan (incl Friargate West) (FBC) – (£0)
 Coventry North Package (SOC) - (£0)
 Sprint Hagley Road - Phase 2 Dudley & Halesowen (SOC) - (£0.5 Million)
 HS2 Connectivity - WMCA New Stations (SOC) – (£3.62 Million) 
 Urban Challenge (SOC) – (£0)
 Digital Programme (SOC) – (£0)
 UKC - UGC Interchange: UGC Business Plan (SOC) – (£10.061 Million)
 UKC - UGC Interchange: HS2 Hybrid Act Change (OBC) – (£9.8 Million)
 CEF Birmingham International Station Development (OBC) – (£0)
 Metro Wolverhampton Interchange (FBC) – (£27.4 Million) 
 Coventry Friargate Business District (FBC) – (£0.2 Million)

10. Two change requests were approved within this period for the Investment Programme. 
These were for Metro Wednesbury to Brierley Hill where the request to bring forward 
£1.6 million of expenditure from 2018/19 into this financial year was approved in order 
to bring forward the opening of the first phase of this route, and Sprint Hagley Road 
Phase 2 where the request was approved to amalgamate Hagley Road Phase 1 and 
Phase 2 schemes. 

11. A specific report on Wolverhampton Interchange Programme was agreed by the 
Investment Board requesting additional funding. The Wolverhampton Interchange 
Programme (WIP) is a key element of the Strategic Economic Plan for the City and 
the wider Black Country.  At 27 November 2017, WMCA Investment Board received a 
report from the Wolverhampton Interchange Programme (WIP) that stated that the 
overall scheme WIP is now estimated to cost £81.8m which is £30m above the 
budgeted £51.8m and comprises of new station building, extension to the multi storey 
car park and tram extension.  

12. The Wolverhampton Interchange Programme (WIP) proposed that the WMCA capital 
contribution of £15 million will be made available from within the existing Investment 
Programme and it is anticipated that any contribution from the Investment Programme 
will be accommodated from within existing resources without any impact on what was 
already planned to be funded from the annual gain share grant of £36.5 million.  This 
is possible because the overall cost of interest associated with borrowing is now 
anticipated to be lower over the 30 year period, creating some headroom to fund 
additional capital investment. Funding of the other £15m will be provided by 
Wolverhampton City Council which will be funded by borrowing as approved by the 
Cabinet in September 2017.

13. The WIP programme will work to minimise costs and an equal proportion of any 
savings from the £30m will be returned back to the WMCA investment programme and 
Wolverhampton City Council.

Page 155



4

14. The additional funding was approved by the WMCA Board on 8th December 2017 
including the commitment of funding by the WMCA of £49.3m, of which £21.9m is to 
be funded by the Department for Transport deed as approved by the ITA and the 
remainder financed by borrowing as detailed in the table below.

15. The WMCA Board also approved the delegation of powers to the WMCA to the Metro 
Programme Director and the Head of Governance to enter into the necessary legal 
agreements.

16. The Programme Management Office Risk Manager is developing the Investment 
Programme risk management processes. From April 2018 onwards an Investment 
Programme Risk Register will be implemented to understand what are the most 
important risks on the most critical projects, and what confidence does the WMCA 
have that they are being managed effectively? This revised mechanism will be 
developed to interface with the strategic and corporate risk management processes. 
This exercise is expected to be completed for June 2018.

17. Specifically the views of the Programme Management Office Risk Manager is that the 
majority of the projects are at a very early stage (pre-Final Business Case), the most 
significant risks seem to be around uncertainty of funding and the definition of the full 
project scope.  A question that should be addressed is how far should projects be 
allowed to progress (and incur costs) before there is certainty of funding, this risk is 
going to be taken into consideration as part of the detailed risk review of the Investment 
Programme planned for Summer 2018. This risk is also be regularly monitored by the 
Investment Programme Performance Management Group and Finance teams.  An 
area of common concern seems to be the length of time taken to go through the 
approval stages for the various Business Case submissions is jeopardising the overall 
project delivery timescale. This risk is being reviewed as part of the wider Investment 
Programme governance review and will also be highlighted in the formal Annual 
Conversation with BEIS (Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy). 

18. In relation to the Investment Programme funding gap. The Finance Director presented 
a report on progress update on the West Midlands Combined Authority Investment 
Programme to the WMCA Board in January 2018 to note the current funding position 
of the Investment Programme 18 months after the establishment of the West Midlands 
Combined Authority. It should be noted that the £8.0 billion Investment Programme is 
funded by:

Page 156



5

 £2.0 billion of funding generated by the West Midlands Combined Authority; and
 £6.0 billion of other funding sources including Constituent Members internally 

generated funds, Central Government grants and 3rd party contributions.

19. In relation to the £2.0 billion funding intended to be generated by the West Midlands 
Combined Authority the WMCA Board approved the recommendation to 

a) Note the continued work with Central Government on providing the power to 
introduce a Business Rates supplement as envisaged in the first Devolution 
Deal; 

b) Endorse the work planned in the final Quarter of the 2017/18 Financial Year  for 
Finance Directors to agree an approach that confirms the contribution of locally 
generated Business Rates to fund the Investment Programme; 

c) Endorse an approach whereby the West Midlands Combined Authority are 
consulted with prior to any future changes to Business Rates income forecasts, 
such as the development of Enterprise Zones; and

d) Endorse the delivery of a process with Leaders of Constituent Authorities, Chief 
Executives and Finance Directors to rank and sequence the Investment 
Programme based on the current assessment of when funding streams aligning 
specific project approvals only where funding has been or is likely to be 
secured.

e) The Board also endorsed a Governance Review to confirm the appropriate 
Programme Governance to be implemented to provide assurance to the West 
Midlands Combined Authority Board based on the updated review of 
Programme delivery and funding. 

Business Assurance 

Business Plan 2017/18 Progress:

20. Progress of the 2017/18 annual business plan is monitored monthly by internal 
Management Boards with key risks impacting on its delivery, being escalated to the 
corporate risk register. A key risk being highlighted on a number of deliverables refers 
to resourcing issues within the respective department.  This is contained within the 
departmental risk register and is being management at a local level. End of year 
reporting of progress on the Annual Plan will be reported in April to understand the 
final position. 

21. Development of the 2018/19 annual business plan is currently being finalised and it is 
expected reporting on the delivery of this plan will commence in May 2018.     

WMCA Business Continuity & Resilience:

22. Since October 2017, the business continuity & resilience arrangements have been 
tested. This has included, testing of IT systems in a Disaster Recovery environment, 
Transport for West Midlands supporting first responders in a major incident scenario 
affecting Birmingham City Centre and scenario planning and an incident scenario 
affecting business operations in 16 Summer Lane. 

Page 157



6

23. This has demonstrated the value WMCA regards business continuity & resilience 
arrangements. In order to support continuous improvement and ensuring that the 
arrangements in place continue to be effective, the supporting plans for these business 
and operational areas have been tested. The scenario tests have led to lessons 
learned where further improvements need to be made. Action owners for all 
recommendations have been identified and are progressing. 

24. The Business Continuity arrangements for 16 Summer Lane were recently tested in a 
real incident which impacted the accessibility of 16 Summer Lane due to a burst water 
pipe and flooding to the first floor. A decision was taken in out of hours by the Silver 
and Gold levels Incident Management Team to close the building to staff a part from 
essential staff who needed to be in the office. A detail review of the incident and 
lessons learned is being undertaken to improve processes in any future incident. 
However it was agreed by the Finance Director that overall operational teams worked 
effectively with the Incident Management Team to deal with immediate risks and 
ensure staff safety. Clears lines of communication and escalation were established 
between Silver and Gold levels. The building was accessible for staff by the following 
day once Health and Safety clearance was given. Staff were advised according to the 
Difficulty Travelling to Work Policy & Procedure and had opportunities to work remotely 
and were kept up to date on progress via regular email communications and via the 
staff emergency hotline number. 

Risk Management:

25. Regular risk management review meetings are now in place across all WMCA 
activities including Commissions to enable full visibility of key risks having the potential 
to impact on the organisation. 

26. There are a total of 11 operational Risk Registers feeding into the WMCA Strategic 
Risk Register with regular meetings in place with the management team of each 
business area to monitor the status of risks and to ascertain the level of risk exposure 
in each of these areas to determine the assurance conclusions. 

27. Following discussion at the previous meeting of the Audit, Risk and Assurance 
Committee, the strategic risk register has been reviewed to further consider the risk 
and impact of stakeholder relations and financial assumptions.  No new risks have 
been introduced to the register during the last period with 11 recorded on the register 
of which none are considered high risk at the present time.  

28. A review of risk arrangements across all levels of the business is to be undertaken in 
order to validate current processes and to ensure a robust risk management function 
is maintained throughout the WMCA. 

29. Key risk that is impacting across a number of directorates and projects is around 
capacity and capability staff resources. A separate report to be provided at ARAC in 
March 2018 by the Interim Head of HR & Organisation Development. The capacity 
and capability risk will continue to be monitored by the WMCA Leadership team.

Page 158



7

Internal Audit:

30. A total of 9 internal audits were undertaken during the reporting period and finalised 
(October – March 2018). The audits covered:

 6 Key Financial Systems; Treasury Management Accounts Receivable, General 
Ledger, Payroll, Budgetary Control and Accounts Payable;

 IR35
 Mayoral Election Costs 
 Investment Programme Governance Arrangements for Project Approval and 

Appraisal

31. 7/9 of the final audits were given a ‘Substantial’ level of assurance. The other 2/9 were 
given ‘Satisfactory’ level assurance. 

32. 3 audits at the time of producing this assurance report are still in draft form and are 
awaiting final sign off. It is expected the following assurance ratings will be given to 
these audits; National Fraud Initiative (Satisfactory), Establishment of the Mayoral 
Office (Limited) and Data Security Arrangements - including GDPR Readiness 
(Limited). Further detail on the internal audits are being presented at the Audit, Risk & 
Assurance Committee in the Internal Audit Annual Report and the limited audit reports 
will be presented separately to the audit committee once finalised. 
 
WMCA Transition:

33. WMCA is still undergoing a transition. The formal leadership team is now in place and 
the WMCA Chief Executive, mostly as of the start of 2018 which allows the Combined 
Authority to begin implementation and delivery of the WMCA’s priorities. The 
Corporate Assurance Manager has met with most of the new Directors to understand 
emerging priorities of the new areas. 

34. The WMCA is in established conversations with Government regarding devolution of 
significant funding for Adult Education Budget and with the Housing Deal. The WMCA 
will be held accountable for demonstrating and operating effective systems of internal 
control, governance and assurance for further devolved funding. 

35. The WMCA Leadership team have reviewed and approved the Strategic Risk 
Register. The WMCA is also developing the Business Plan 2018/19 which 
incorporates the new directorates and priorities for these business areas. It is intended 
that a further detailed risk discussion with be held with the Leadership team to 
understand the business readiness and risks to the delivery of these objectives. 

36. The formal Annual Conversation with the WMCA Chief Executive and the Leadership 
team with BEIS (Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy) has now 
been confirmed for April 2018. The Annual conversation will cover providing assurance 
to BEIS against progress of devolution actions, strategy, governance and capacity. 
Through WMCA current experiences of operating the WMCA Assurance Framework 
and the requirement to make changes to the Investment Programme Governance (due 
to actions in the Internal Audit report findings). BEIS have confirmed that they are 

Page 159



8

happy to work with the WMCA to do a more detailed review of the framework and 
make amendments. 

Conclusion 

37. The report will demonstrate through the assurance summaries provided the pace of 
change and growing areas of accountability for the West Midlands Combined 
Authority. The WMCA has continued to evolve since the submission of the last 
assurance update presented in September 2017 and the WMCA is expected to further 
evolve as new project/ programmes are initiated and mature in their development/ 
delivery lifecycles and further powers and funding is devolved to the WMCA.  

38. Overall the Strategic risk register and operational/ programmes risks registers would 
support the view that risk is contained and is being managed at appropriate levels 
across the WMCA. The Investment Programme is still in its early establishment and 
proactive conversations have been demonstrated with WMCA stakeholders and 
government regarding addressing the funding gap if the pace of anticipated delivery 
continues. 

39. In initial conversions with BEIS, they have been pleased that the WMCA has been 
proactive and have commissioned reviews for Investment Programme governance, 
Assurance Framework and Risk Management processes. This has demonstrated our 
desire to test that the current systems for these controls and assurance remain 
effective to support the WMCA’s growing agenda. 

40. To support the overall ambitions for the WMCA, the assurance that will need to be 
sought going forward is confirmation that the WMCA internal systems and processes, 
as well as the WMCA resource capacity and capability is sufficient to meet the pace 
of change for the WMCA’s growing agenda. 

Page 160



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 1 of 13

     
Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee

Date 16th March 2018 
Report title Internal Audit Plan 2018/19
Accountable Chief 
Executive

Deborah Cadman, Chief Executive of the
WMCA
email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
tel: 0121 214 7552

Accountable 
Employee

Tim Martin, Chief Audit Executive
email: tim.martin@wmca.org.uk
tel: 0121 214 7435

Report to be/has been 
considered by

Leadership Team 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee is recommended to: 

1. Review and approve the risk based internal audit plan for 2018/19.

Page 161

Agenda Item 12



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 2 of 13

1.0 Purpose

1.1 The purpose of internal audit is to provide the WMCA with an independent and objective 
opinion on risk management, control and governance and their effectiveness in achieving 
the WMCA’s agreed objectives. 

1.2 The purpose of this document is to provide the WMCA with a risk-based internal audit plan, 
incorporating a strategic statement for internal audit, and based upon an assessment of 
assurance needs. The assessment of assurance needs exercise is undertaken to identify 
the systems of control and determine the frequency of audit coverage. The assessment will 
be used to direct internal audit resources to those aspects of the WMCA which are 
assessed as generating the greatest risk to the achievement of its objectives.

2.0 Background

2.1 Internal audit is a statutory requirement for all Local Authorities. The audit service provided 
to the WMCA is in accordance with the Local Government Act (1972), the Accounts and 
Audit Regulations Act and the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards.

3.0 Wider WMCA Implications

3.1 There are no implications

4.0 Financial implications

4.1 There are no implications.

5.0 Legal implications

5.1 There are no implications.

6.0 Equalities implications

6.1 There are no implications.

7.0 Other implications

7.1 Not applicable. 

8.0 Schedule of background papers

8.1 None.

9.0 Appendices 

None 

Page 162



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 3 of 13

 

Internal Audit Plan - 2018/19

Page 163

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjkh6zMqOvOAhUDuhQKHceGAR8QjRwIBw&url=http://birminghamnewsroom.com/mayoral-west-midlands-combined-authority-consultation-begins/&psig=AFQjCNG5T-wmDivFbU8WsGgucE-6xrxtHQ&ust=1472721188003891


This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 4 of 13

Delivered by City of Wolverhampton Council - Audit Services

Index

A quick guide to the audit and assurance planning process

Glossary of Terms

Introduction

Assessing the effectiveness of risk management and governance

Assessing the effectiveness of the system of control

The assessment of assurance needs methodology

The assessment of assurance needs 

Developing an internal audit plan

Considerations required of the Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee and 
senior WMCA management 

How the internal audit service will be delivered

The internal audit plan 

Page 164



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 5 of 13

A quick guide to the audit and assurance planning process

Step 1- Audit universe/auditable areas
Identify the audit universe (i.e. a list of themes and areas within them that may require 
assurance) using a variety of methods:
 Areas of potential risk identified through a variety of sources (including the strategic 

risk register) as having the potential to impact upon the WMCA’s ability to deliver its 
objectives. Then, identify if we can gain assurance that any of these risks are being 
managed adequately from other sources of assurance.

 Key Financial Systems - work undertaken in close liaison with the external auditors, to 
help inform and support the work they are required to undertake. 

 Areas where we use auditor’s knowledge, management requests and experience etc. 
                          

▼

Step 2 – Ranking
Where appropriate score each auditable area as a high, medium or low assurance 
need using the CIPFA scoring methodology of materiality/business impact/audit 
experience/risk/ potential for fraud.

                       
    ▼

Step 3 – Three-year cycle
List the likely medium and high assurance need themes and/or areas 
for the next three years. High need themed areas will be reviewed 
annually, medium need usually once in a three-year cycle, while a 
watching brief will remain on the low needs.

      ▼

Step 4 - Next Year’s Plan
List the themes and where appropriate the types of work 
that will be undertaken in the 2018/19 internal audit plan. 

Page 165



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 6 of 13

 
A glossary of terms
Definition of internal auditing
Internal auditing is an independent, objective 
assurance and consulting activity designed to 
add value and improve an organisation’s 
operations. It helps an organisation accomplish 
its objectives by bringing a systematic, 
disciplined approach to evaluate and improve 
the effectiveness of risk management, control 
and governance processes.

Governance
The arrangements in place to ensure that the 
WMCA fulfils its overall purpose, achieves its 
intended outcomes for citizens and service 
users and operates in an economical, effective, 
efficient and ethical manner.

Control environment
Comprises the systems of governance, risk 
management and internal control. The key 
elements include: 

 establishing and monitoring the 
achievement of the WMCA’s objectives 

 the facilitation of policy and decision-making 
ensuring compliance with established 
policies, procedures, laws and regulations – 
including how risk management is 
embedded 

 ensuring the economical, effective and 
efficient use of resources and for securing 
continuous improvement 

 the financial management of the WMCA and 
the reporting of financial management 

 the performance management of the WMCA 
and the reporting of performance 
management.

System of internal control
The totality of the way an organisation designs, 
implements, tests and modifies controls in 
specific systems, to provide assurance at the 
corporate level that the organisation is operating 
efficiently and effectively. 

Risk Management
A logical and systematic method of establishing 
the context, identifying, analysing, evaluating, 
treating, monitoring and communicating the risks 
associated with any activity, function or process 
in a way that will enable the organisation to 
minimise losses and maximise opportunities.

Risk based audit and assurance reviews
A review that: 

 identifies and records the objectives, risks 
and controls 

 establishes the extent to which the 
objectives of the system are consistent with 
higher-level corporate objectives 

 evaluates the controls in principle to decide if 
they are appropriate and can be reasonably 
relied upon to achieve their purpose, 
addressing the organisation’s risks identifies 
any instances of over and under control and 
provides management with a clear 
articulation of residual risks where existing 
controls are inadequate 

 tests the effectiveness of controls i.e. 
through compliance and/or substantive 
testing 

 arrives at conclusions and produces a 
report, leading to management actions as 
necessary and providing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the control environment.

Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee
The governance group charged with 
independent assurance of the adequacy of the 
internal control environment and the integrity of 
financial reporting.

Assurance
A confident assertion, based on sufficient, 
relevant and reliable evidence, that something is 
satisfactory, with the aim of giving comfort to the 
recipient. The basis of the assurance will be set 
out and it may be qualified if full comfort cannot 
be given. The Head of Audit may be unable to 
give an assurance if arrangements are 
unsatisfactory. Assurance can come from a 
variety of sources and internal audit can be seen 
as the ‘third line of defence’ with the first line 
being the WMCA’s policies, processes and 
controls and the second being managers’ own 
checks of this first line.

Page 166



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 7 of 13

Internal Audit standards

The internal audit team 
comply with the 
standards as laid out in 
the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards that 
came into effect on 1 
April 2013.

Introduction
 The purpose of internal audit is to provide 

the Chief Executive, Director of Finance and 
Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee with 
an independent and objective opinion on risk 
management, control and governance and 
their effectiveness in achieving the WMCA’s 
agreed objectives.  To provide this opinion, 
we are required to review annually the risk 
management and governance processes 
within the WMCA.  We also need to review 
on a cyclical basis, the operation of the 
internal control systems. It should be pointed 
out that internal audit is not a substitute for 
effective internal control. The true role of 
internal audit is to contribute to internal 
control by examining, evaluating and 
reporting to management on its adequacy 
and effectiveness.

 There is a statutory requirement for internal 
audit to work in accordance with the ‘proper 
audit practices’. These ‘proper audit 
practices’ are in effect the ‘Public Sector 
Internal Audit Standards’. The WMCA has an 
Internal Audit Charter which was last 
reviewed and approved by the Audit, Risk 
and Assurance Committee in November 
2017 and defines the activity, purpose, 
authority and responsibility of internal audit, 
and establishes its position within the 
WMCA. This document sits alongside the 
charter, and helps determine how the 
internal audit service will be developed.

 The purpose of this document is to provide 
the WMCA with an internal audit plan, based 
upon an assessment of its assurance needs. 
The assessment of assurance needs 
exercise is undertaken to identify the 
systems of control and determine the 
frequency of audit coverage. The 
assessment will be used to direct internal 
audit resources to those aspects of the 
WMCA which are assessed as generating 
the greatest risk to the achievement of its 
objectives.

Assessing the effectiveness of 
risk management and    
governance
The effectiveness of risk management and 
governance will be reviewed annually, to gather 
evidence to support our opinion to the Chief 
Executive, Director of Finance and Audit, Risk 
and Assurance Committee. This opinion is 
reflected in the general level of assurance given 
in our annual report and where appropriate 
within separate reports in areas that will touch 
upon risk management and governance.

Assessing the effectiveness of 
the system of control
 To be adequate and effective, management 

should:

 Establish and monitor the achievement of 
the WMCA’s objectives and facilitate 
policy and decision making.

 Identify, assess and manage the risks to 
achieving the WMCA’s objectives.

 Ensure the economical, effective and 
efficient use of resources.

 Ensure compliance with established 
policies, procedures, laws and 
regulations.

 Safeguard the WMCA’s assets and 
interests from losses of all kinds, 
including those arising from fraud, 
irregularity or corruption.

 Ensure the integrity and reliability of 
information, accounts and data.

Page 167



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 8 of 13

 These objectives are achieved by the 
implementation of effective management 
processes and through the operation of a 
sound system of internal control. The annual 
reviews of risk management and governance 
will cover the control environment and risk 
assessment elements, at a high level. The 
programme of work developed as the 
outcome of the assessment of assurance 
need exercise will cover the system level 
control activities.

 The plan contained within this report is our 
assessment of the audit work required to 
measure, evaluate and report on the 
effectiveness of risk management, 
governance and internal control.

Assessment of assurance 
needs methodology
 Internal audit should encompass the whole 

internal control system and not be limited 
only to financial control systems. The scope 
of internal audit work should reflect the core 
objectives of the WMCA and the key risks 
that it faces.  As such, each audit cycle starts 
with a comprehensive analysis of the whole 
system of internal control that ensures the 
achievements of the WMCA’s objectives.

 Activities that contribute significantly to the 
WMCA’s internal control system, and to the 
risks it faces, may not have an intrinsic 
financial value necessarily.  Therefore, our 
approach seeks to assign a relative 
assurance need value. The purpose of this 
approach is to enable the delivery of 
assurance to the WMCA over the reliability of 
its system of control in an effective and 
efficient manner.

 We have undertaken our assessment using 
the following process:

 We identified the core objectives of the 
WMCA and, where available, the specific key 
risks associated with the achievement of 
those objectives.
 Information Security
 Health and Safety

 We then identified auditable themes and 
areas that impact significantly on the 
achievement of the control objectives.

 We assigned assurance need values to 
the auditable themes and areas, based 
on the evidence we obtained.

 The audit plan is drawn out of the 
assessment of assurance need. The 
proposed plan covers the 2018/19 financial 
year and is detailed at the end of this 
document.

The assessment of assurance 
needs - identifying the WMCA’s 
priorities and the associated 
risks
 The following are the WMCA’s key priorities:

 Drive economic growth
 Create more efficient and faster 

transport
 Provide better skills training
 Build more and better homes
 Deliver public sector reform

 Develop sustainable cross sector 
partnerships

 Supported by the WMCA’s values:

 Be collaborative
 Be innovative
 Be driven
 Be inclusive

 The WMCA has identified the following 
strategic risks as potentially impacting upon 
its ability to achieve its key priorities:

 Stakeholder and Political Relations
 Financial Assumptions of the Devolution 

Deals
 Delivery
 Resources
 Leadership Team
 Commerciality
 Reputation
 Governance

Page 168



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 9 of 13

 External Factors

Identifying the “audit universe”

To undertake the assessment of assurance 
need, it is first necessary to define the audit 
universe for the WMCA. The audit universe 
describes all the systems, functions, operations 
and activities undertaken by the WMCA. Given 
that the key risk to the WMCA is that it fails to 
achieve its objectives, we have identified the 
audit universe by determining which systems 
and operations impact upon the achievement of 
the core objectives of the WMCA, as identified 
above.  These auditable areas include the 
control processes put in place to address the 
key risks.

Developing an internal audit plan
 The internal audit plan is based, wherever 

possible, on management’s risk priorities, 
as set out in the WMCA’s own risk 
analysis/assessment. The plan has been 
designed to, wherever possible, cover the 
key risks identified by such risk analysis.

 In establishing the plan, the relationship 
between risk and frequency of audit remains 
absolute. The level of risk will always 
determine the frequency by which auditable 
themes and areas will be subject to audit.  
This ensures that key risk themes and areas 
are looked at on a frequent basis.  The aim of 
this approach is to ensure the maximum level 
of assurance can be provided with the 
minimum level of audit coverage.

In addition to this, there are also common 
systems and functions which are generic to all 
areas, along with several mandatory reviews. 
Where deemed appropriate they may also be 
included in the audit universe set out in detail at 
the end of this document.

Assessing the risk of auditable areas within 
the assurance framework
 Risk is defined as “The threat that an event 

or action will adversely affect an 
organisation's ability to achieve its business 
objectives and execute its strategies.”
Source: Economist Intelligence Unit - Executive Briefing.

 There are several key factors for assessing 
the degree of assurance need within the 
auditable area. These have been used in our 
calculation for each auditable area and are 
based on the following factors:

 Materiality
 Business impact
 Audit experience
 Risk
 Potential for fraud

 In this model, the assignment of the relative 
values is translated into an assessment of 
assurance need. These ratings used are 

 It is recognised that a good internal audit 
plan should achieve a balance between 
setting out the planned audit work and 
retaining flexibility to respond to changing 
risks and priorities during the year. 
Traditionally Audit Services produced quite 
detailed internal audit annual plans 
identifying all the individual audits planned 
for the year, and this approach does have 
the advantage of providing a clear route map 
to the end of year opinion. However, as the 
year progresses it is likely that the risks and 
organisational priorities will change, resulting 
in changes to the plan. This is an issue 
within the Combined Authority environment 
at this moment in time, due to the pace of 
change and high level of uncertainty 
affecting the risk environment. Therefore, for 
this year we are keeping the audit plan 
relatively open. More detailed working plans 
will be maintained operationally within Audit 
Services. This approach should hopefully 
result in a more realistic and flexible plan.

 Auditor’s judgement will be applied in 
assessing the number of days required for 
each audit identified in the plan.

Page 169



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 10 of 13

high, medium or low to establish the 
frequency of coverage of internal audit.

 The assessment of assurance need’s 
purpose is to:

 determine priorities and establish the 
most cost-effective means of achieving 
audit objectives;

 assist in the direction and control of all 
audit work.

 This exercise builds on and supersedes 
previous internal audit plans.

 Included within the plan, in addition to audit 
days for field assignments are:

 a contingency allocation, which will be 
utilised when the need arises, for 
example, special projects, investigations, 
advice and assistance, unplanned and ad-
hoc work as and when requested.

 a follow-up allocation, which will be 
utilised to assess the degree of 
implementation achieved in relation to key 
recommendations agreed by 
management during the prior year.

 an audit management allocation, which is 
used for management, quality control, 
client and external audit liaison and for 
preparation for, and attendance at various 
member meetings and Audit, Risk and 
Assurance Committee etc. 

Considerations required of the 
Audit, Risk and Assurance 
Committee and the WMCA’s 
Senior Management Team
 Are the objectives and key risks identified 

consistent with those recognised by the 
WMCA?

 Does the plan include all the themes which 
would be expected to be subject to internal 
audit?

 Does the plan cover the key risks as they are 
recognised?

 Is the allocation of audit resource accepted, 
and agreed as appropriate, given the level of 
risk identified?

How the internal audit service 
will be delivered
Staffing
The audit team follow the City of 
Wolverhampton Council’s core behaviours. They 
are recruited, trained and provided with 
opportunities for continuing professional 
development. Employees are also sponsored to 
undertake relevant professional qualifications. 
All employees are subject to the Council’s 
appraisal scheme, which leads to an 
identification of training needs. In this way, we 
ensure that employees are suitably skilled to 
deliver the internal audit service. This includes 
the delivery of specialist skills which are 
provided by staff within the service with the 
relevant knowledge, skills and experience.

Resources required
It is estimated that approximately 145 internal 
audit days (including fraud, assurance and 
contingency work) will be required to deliver the 
audit plan. 

Quality assurance
All audit work undertaken is subject to robust 
quality assurance procedures as required by the 
Public Sector Internal Audit Standard and reports 
are subject to thorough review by professionally 
qualified accountancy staff.

Page 170



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 11 of 13

The internal audit plan 2018/19

Auditable area Purpose Rating

WMCA Governance Arrangements A high-level review of the current governance arrangements in place for the WMCA 
including the standards arrangement and where possible an element of 
benchmarking against governance arrangements in operation within comparative 
Combined Authorities. 

High

Devolution Deal Objectives and Financial 
Assumptions

A review of the strategic and operational arrangements in place for evaluating, 
monitoring and reporting regarding the effective delivery of the Devolution objectives 
and associated outcome, outputs and benefits and to seek assurance that the 
underlying financial assumptions made as part of budget setting, financial 
management and monitoring are robust and reasonable.

High

WMCA Business Planning Arrangements A review of the business planning arrangements in operation and their effectiveness 
in demonstrating the achievement of the Devolution objectives within established 
budgets.

High

WMCA Human Resource Planning, 
Capacity and Capability Strategy

A high-level review of the strategy for human resource planning, capacity and 
capability management to ensure the strategic and operational needs of the 
WMCA are effectively managed.  

High

Midland Metro Operational Transfer A high-level review of the strategic implementation (and supporting governance, 
risk management and systems of control) of the Midland Metro operational 
transfer to Midland Metro Limited.

High

Business Continuity A review to seek assurance that WMCA Business Continuity arrangements have 
been appropriately established and demonstrate good practice. 

High

WMCA Health and Safety A high-level review of the accountability arrangements for health and safety. High

P
age 171



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 12 of 13

Birmingham Eastside Extension Project A review of governance, project management, risk management and control 
systems in operation for the Birmingham Eastside Extension Project.

High

Joint Data Team Initiative A review of the in-house service delivery arrangements in place for the Joint Data 
Team Initiative and contract management arrangements for externally procured 
service areas, as part of the new operating model.

Medium

Asset Management A review of the asset management arrangements in operation for the WMCA. Medium

Budget Management Role and 
Responsibilities 

A review to seek assurance that appropriate induction, training and support 
mechanisms are in place to support budget managers appointed for newly 
established budget areas and to ensure that they are undertaking their role and 
associated responsibilities in an effective, compliant and accountable manner. 

Medium

Key Financial Systems To provide assurance that the key financial processes are operating, including:
 Payroll
 Accounts payable
 Accounts receivable
 General ledger
 Budgetary control
 Treasury Management

Connected and Autonomous Vehicles – 
Innovation UK Grant Certification

Certification of grant claims in accordance with the Grant Offer letter for the grant 
allocation awarded to WMCA.

Grant Certifications Assurance reviews and certification in accordance with the respective grant letters 
including the Innovation UK Grant.

The following reviews and associated services will be delivered corporately across the WMCA:

P
age 172



This report is PUBLIC [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

Page 13 of 13

Auditable Area Purpose 
Consultancy and advice Special projects, advice and assistance, unplanned and ad-hoc work as and when requested.

Counter Fraud Where required:
 the carrying out of investigations into areas of suspected or reported fraudulent activity across the 

WMCA.
 Undertaking a series of pro-active fraud activities, including the targeted testing of areas open to the 

potential of fraudulent activity
 The development of a fraud risk register
 Organising raising fraud awareness seminars fraud surgeries. 
 Assisting in the Cabinet Offices NFI data matching exercise.
 Representing WMCA at national and local fraud related events.

Recommendation follow up The follow up of key internal audit recommendations made in 2017/18 including those on Cyber Security.

Audit Management Day to day management of the internal audit service, quality control, client and external audit liaison and 
preparation for, and attendance at various meetings. Preparation and presentation of papers for the Audit, Risk 
and Assurance Committee, and providing advice and training to committee members as and when required.

P
age 173



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2018
	6 Forward Plan
	7 Governance Structures
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	8 Capability and Vacancy Risks
	9 WMCA Progress Report March 2018
	Appendix 1

	10 Informing the Audit Risk Assessment
	Appendix

	11 WMCA Annual Governance Statement
	Appendix 1
	Outturn Report for Internal Audit
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Internal Audit Annual Report
	Appendix A
	Assurance Overview

	12 Internal Audit Plan 2018/19

